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Letter to the President

❝ All our efforts to 
excel are inspired by 

our commitment to the 
Filipino people.❞
- AndREA d. dOMIngO

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer



2017 ANNUAL REPORT

7

Dear Mr. President:

NurturiNg a culture of excellence and surpassing previ-
ous achievements are some of the values that PAGCOR 
has embraced through the years. 

PAGCOR’s continuous quest to beat past victories became 
one of the main driving forces why we once again made a 
historic revenue breakthrough in 2017.

During the year in review, we recorded P59.85 billion in gross 
earnings – a remarkable 8.71% or P4.79 billion increase from 
our P55.06 billion gross revenues in 2016.

Because of this revenue upsurge, we increased our contribu-
tions to nation-building from P37.54 billion in 2016 to P41.36 
billion in 2017 – a 10.16% leap or P3.81 billion increase from 
the 2016 figures.

Despite the significant increase in PAGCOR’s revenues, we 
continued to practice judicious spending. Hence, our 2017 
operating expenses of P13.55 billion was lower by P572.89 
million against our P14.12 billion operating expenses in 
2016. Further, against our 2017 budget of P15.97 billion, we 
have savings of P2.39 billion.

The biggest portion of PAGCOR’s contributions to na-
tion-building went to the Bureau of Treasury (P27.23 billion) 
through the 50% government share (inclusive of the P60 
million remittances to Dangerous Drugs Board); 5% franchise 
tax (P2.86 billion) and 5% share to the Philippine Sports 
Commission (P1.36 billion). 

PAGCOR also allocated P8.71 billion for socio-civic projects. 
Of this amount, P8.50 billion was allocated for the Socio-Civ-
ic projects Fund of the Office of the President. 

Other mandated beneficiaries which received huge allocation 
from PAGCOR were the cities hosting a Casino Filipino branch 
(P441.82 million); the Board of Claims or the victims of unjust 
imprisonment (P49.98 million); the National Commission for 
Culture and the Arts (P100 million); the Early Childhood Care 
and Development (P500 million) and the Sports Benefits and In-
centives Act for athletes and coaches who won in international 
sports competitions (P5.90 million). For the year, P83.24 million 
corporate income tax was also recorded. 

We are proud to note that while a big chunk of our revenues 
came from gaming operations, fees from licensed casinos 
and other income, we also collected P3.12 billion from off-
shore gaming operations – a new and promising addition in 
our revenue stream. 

Besides these revenue milestones, we also wish to update 
you on some major developments in the Philippine gaming 
landscape as well as PAGCOR’s regulatory functions.  

First, the local gaming industry – including PAGCOR and its 
licensed gaming operations – are now considered covered 
entities under Republic Act Number 9160 or the Anti-Money 
Laundering Act (AMLA) of 2001 after the Casino Implement-
ing Rules and Regulations (CIRR) designating casinos as 
covered persons took effect. With this amendment in the 
AMLA, single casino cash transactions in excess of P5 million 
or its equivalent currency, must be reported to the Anti-Mon-
ey Laundering Council. This move is beneficial to the local 
gaming industry because it will protect casinos and other 

gaming facilities from money laundering and other forms of 
criminalities. 

Second, to further help pump-prime the economy and the 
local tourism industry, PAGCOR granted provisional licensees 
to three integrated resort casino projects in Cebu and one in 
Clark, Pampanga. 

Total investment commitment from these four entities which 
were issued provisional licenses by PAGCOR in 2017 was P1.1 
billion, or 120% higher than its target of P500 million.

The standard condition stipulated in Provisional Licenses is 
the maximum allocation of 7.5% of their gross floor area to 
gaming. The rest of the floor plan must be occupied by other 
leisure and entertainment components such as hotel rooms, 
retail shops, theme parks or iconic attractions and other 
commercial facilities. 

We are optimistic that with the rise of these new integrat-
ed resorts outside Manila, we can attract more tourists in 
other key cities, hence increase overall tourist arrivals in the 
country. 

Although we ride on the tide of growth, we do not rest on 
our laurels. We continuously strive to improve our work 
processes and optimize our human and financial resourc-
es. Because of this, we successfully transitioned from ISO 
9001:2008 Certification for Quality Management System 
(QMS) to ISO 9001: 2015. With this certification, PAGCOR now 
belongs to the first 10% of the 268 government agencies 
which received the ISO 9001 Certification. It is also one of the 
four government agencies in the country which are certified 
under ISO 9001:2015 with all processes covered. 

All our efforts to excel are inspired by our commitment to 
the Filipino people. 

It was for this reason that we continued to implement 
significant corporate social responsibility programs such as 
the School building Project for public schools nationwide; 
Feeding Program for undernourished school children; relief 
operations in calamity-stricken areas; support to the De-
partment of Education’s Brigada Eskwela Project; the annual 
Pamaskong Handog for less privileged Filipinos under the 
care of charitable organizations nationwide; donation of 
school and hygiene kits to public school students; provision 
of  financial aid to the families of soldiers who were either 
killed or wounded during the Marawi siege, donation of 
medicines to various sectors and local government units, 
among other financial aid.

Our work in PAGCOR is a call to public service that we contin-
ue to respond to. 

Rest assured that our commitment to our nation will not wa-
ver. We will continue to strive for excellence and do our best 
to help the Philippines move forward and soar to greater 
heights. 

Very truly yours,

ANDREA D. DOMINGO
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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PAGCOR is a 100 percent government-owned and controlled corporation under the Office of the President of the Republic 
of the Philippines.

The state-owned gaming firm was created during the Martial Law years by virtue of a Presidential Decree (PD 1067-A) 
issued by then President Ferdinand Marcos in response to calls for the Philippine government to put a stop to the growing 
proliferation of illegal casino operations in various parts of the country. The law creating PAGCOR was later amended and 
consolidated under PD 1869 otherwise known as the PAGCOR Charter.

Under its Charter, PAGCOR was given a three-pronged mandate:

1. Regulate, operate, authorize and license games of chance, games of cards and games of numbers, particularly casino 
gaming in the Philippines;

2. Generate revenues for the Philippine government’s socio-civic and national development programs; and

3. Help promote the Philippine tourism industry.

In June 2007, Republic Act No. 9487 was passed by the Philippine Congress, extending the corporate life of the state-run 
gaming firm by 25 years, renewable for another 25 years, and prescribing the following amendments to the PAGCOR Charter:

1. PAGCOR can enter into agreements, including joint venture, with any person, firm, association or corporation.

2. Requirement to obtain consent of the local government authority that has territorial jurisdiction over the area 
chosen as site for any of PAGCOR’s operations.

3. Exclusion of jai-alai from PAGCOR operations; and

4. Delimitation of regulatory authority and power over gaming activities covered by other existing franchises, 
regulatory bodies or special laws.

What is PAGCOR?

PAGCOR HOUSE
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PAGCOR CORPORATE OFFICE ANNEXPAGCOR CORPORATE OFFICE

In accordance with its Charter and other governing laws, PAGCOR’s earnings are distributed as follows:

· 5 percent of winnings goes to the BIR as franchise tax;

· 50 percent of the 95 percent balance goes to the National Treasury as the National Government’s mandated income 
share. From the 50% government share, P60 million is remitted annually to the Dangerous Drugs Board;

· 5 percent of the remaining balance (after deducting the franchise tax and the National Government’s mandated 
income share) goes to the Philippine Sports Commission to finance the country’s sports development programs;

· 1 percent of the net income goes to the Board of Claims, an agency under the Department of Justice to compensate 
victims of wrongful detention and prosecution; and

· Cities hosting PAGCOR casinos are given fixed amount for their respective community development projects.

· PAGCOR also allocates a portion of its revenues for the Socio-Civic Projects Fund of the Office of the President.

Aside from these, PAGCOR has also been tapped to provide funds for the implementation of vital laws such as the Early 
Childhood Care and Development (ECCD) program which promotes pre-school education. The program got an initial fund-
ing of P2 billion from PAGCOR beginning 2002 (RA 8980 mandated remittance of P400 million per year for five years and RA 
10410 mandated P500 million per year for another five years).

PAGCOR also funds the Sports Incentives and Benefits Act which provides monetary rewards to athletes and coaches who 
win in international sports competitions. The agency likewise supports RA 10066 or the National Cultural Heritage Act of 
2009 which provides for PAGCOR’s mandatory funding of P500 million (at P100 million per year for five years). 

On top of its mandatory remittances to various government entities, the state-run gaming firm has also been actively 
implementing major Corporate Social Responsibility projects under the leadership of its present management.            

Where does PAGCOR’s income go?
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PHILIPPINE AMUSEMENT AND GAMING CORPORATION

OUR VISION
By 2020, PAGCOR as the prime mover will make the Philippines the top gaming and 
entertainment destination in the ASEAN region, generating revenues that fund na-
tion-building programs.

OUR MISSION
•	 To	 create	 an	 environment	 that	 propels	 the	 development	 of	 the	 Philippine	

gaming and entertainment industry.
•	 To	be	a	responsible	and	responsive	partner	of	the	Philippine	government	in	its	

nation-building programs.  
•	 To	establish	and	enforce	a	regulatory	framework	that	preserves	the	integrity	of	

the Philippine gaming industry.

OUR CORE VALUES
•	 INTEGRITY
 Firm adherence to the highest ethical and professional standards.

•	 ACCOUNTABILITY
 Open and transparent business dealings with stakeholders.

•	 SOCIAL	RESPONSIBILITY
 Giving back for nation-building.

•	 CUSTOMER	SERVICE	EXCELLENCE
 Upholding the highest global standards in customer service and 
 satisfying the needs of our customers at all times.

•	 TEAMWORK
 Each member contributes one’s talents and skills to achieve a 
 common goal.

10
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the year 2017 was another remarkable time for PAGCOR 
after it recorded P59.85 billion in gross revenues – an 
astounding 8.71% leap or P4.79 billion increase from its 

P55.06 billion gross revenues in 2016.
Of the P59.85 billion revenues, P22.45 billion or 37.51% 

came from PAGCOR-owned and operated venues.
The biggest sources of gaming revenues were the slot 

machine operations (P12.09 billion), regular table games 
(P10.35 billion), e-bingo (P8.52 billion), and e-games (P1.74 
billion).

Also, the fees derived from licensed casinos (P19.24 
billion), offshore gaming operations (P3.12 billion) and other 
related services and other income (P2.52 billion) contributed 
significantly to the increase in PAGCOR’s total revenues in 
2017. 

Despite the significant increase in PAGCOR’s revenues, the 
agency continued to practice judicious spending. Hence, 
PAGCOR’s 2017 operating expenses of P13.55 billion was 
lower by P572.89 million against the P14.12 billion operating 
expenses in 2016. 

Contributions to nation-building
Because of the agency’s revenue upsurge, PAGCOR also 

automatically increased its contributions to nation-building 
by 10.16%.

From P37.54 billion contributions in 2016, it remitted 
a total of P41.36 billion to the national coffers and other 
mandated beneficiaries in 2017. Since this is P3.81 billion 
higher than last year’s figures, more funding was allocated to 
the various programs of the government.

The lion’s share of PAGCOR’s contributions to nation-
building went to the Bureau of Treasury (P27.23 billion) 

through the 50% government share. This amount includes 
the P60 million remittances to Dangerous Drugs Board, an 
agency tasked to create policies and strategies on drug 
prevention and control.

PAGCOR also remitted a portion of its revenues to the 
following mandated beneficiaries:

Philippine Sports Commission (RA 6847)
To help promote the government’s sports development 

programs and policies, the state-run gaming agency 
remitted P1.36 billion to the Philippine Sports Commission. 
This amount is 7.55% or P95.65 million higher than the 2016 
remittances.

Early Childhood Care and Development (RA 10410)
PAGCOR remitted a total of P500 million to the Early 

Childhood Care and Development Council to help promote 
the rights of children to survival, development and special 
protection, especially in their formative years. The funding 
is also being used for the establishment of National Child 
Development Centers in local government units nationwide.

National Endowment for Culture and the Arts (RA 10066)
A total of P100 million was allocated by PAGCOR to help 

“protect, preserve, conserve and promote the nation’s 
cultural heritage; its property and histories, and the ethnicity 
of local communities.”

Board of Claims (RA 7309)
The Board of Claims – an agency under the Department 

of Justice – which grants compensation to victims of unjust 
imprisonment, received P49.98 million from PAGCOR.

revenues increase by
PAGCOR’s 2017 8.71%
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RESOURCE ALLOCATION

Legend: (in Philippine Peso)

 27,174,561,624.14  Subsidy to NGAs: Government Share 
 1,361,728,081.22   Subsidy to NGAs: Philippine Sports Commission
 49,986,954.79  Subsidy to NGAs: Board of Claims’ Share
 500,000,000.00  Subsidy to NGAs: Early Childhood Care and Development Fund
 70,303,439.30  Subsidy to NGAs: Community Relations  
 8,500,000,000.00  Subsidy to NGAs: Office of the President
 60,000,000.00   Subsidy to NGAs: Dangerous Drugs Board
 100,000,000.00   Subsidy to NGAs: National Endowment for Culture and the Arts 
 5,900,000.00  Subsidy to NGAs: Others 
 441,820,000.00  Subsidy to LGUs: Host Cities’ Share
 10,100,053.38  Subsidy to LGUs: Community Relations    
 15,873,000.00  Subsidy to NGOs / POs 
 119,957,702.96  Donations
 2,866,795,960.46  Taxes, Duties and Licenses: Franchise Tax
 20,834,908.90   Taxes, Duties and Licenses: Tax on Interest Income 
 50,258,966.11  Taxes, Duties and Licenses: Fringe Benefits Tax
 2,398,410.18  Taxes, Duties and Licenses: Others
 83,240,008.19  Taxes, Duties and Licenses: Corporate Income Tax  

Host Cities Share
PAGCOR also remitted a total of P441.82 million for the 

cities and local government units (LGUs) that host a Casino 
Filipino branch or satellite. Said amount is being used by 
LGUs for their community development programs.

National Athletes and Coaches Benefit and Incentives Act
(RA 10699)

A total of P5.90 billion was allocated as cash incentives 
for national athletes and coaches who brought pride to the 
country by competing and winning in international sports 

competitions.
Aside from its mandated contributions, PAGCOR allotted 

P8.71 billion for various corporate social responsibility 
projects and other financial donations.

The agency also continued to fuel the government’s 
revenue generating efforts by paying billions of pesos in 
taxes. In 2017, it remitted P2.86 billion franchise tax to the 
Bureau of Internal Revenue. This amount is P201.38 million 
or 7.55% higher than the franchise tax paid by the agency 
in 2016.

Likewise, PAGCOR posted expenses of P83.24 million in 
corporate income taxes, a monumental increase of 172.18% 
or P52.65 million compared to 2016.
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PAGCOR TRANSITIONS TO

ISO 9001:2015
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Barely ten months after it received the International Organization for 
Standardization (ISO) 9001:2008 Certification for Quality Manage-
ment System (QMS), PAGCOR successfully transitioned to ISO 9001: 

2015.
PAGCOR now belongs to the first 10% of the 268 government agencies 

which received the ISO 9001 Certification. 
It is also one of the four government agencies in the country – along 

with Department of Public Works and Highways, Authority of the Free-
port of Bataan and the Provincial Government of La Union -- which are 
certified under ISO 9001:2015 with all processes covered. 

Among the core characteristics of ISO 9001:2015, which is an up-
graded version of the ISO 9001:2008, are the adoption of risk-based 
thinking in management and business processes; involvement of top 
management; assessment and measurement of inputs and outputs 
of a business process; and taking into account the context of the or-
ganization based on the needs and expectations of customers and 
stakeholders involved. 

PAGCOR Chairman and CEO Andrea Domingo said that it was very dif-
ficult to leap from ISO 9001:2008 to ISO 9001: 2015 in just a few months. 
“Despite the challenges, we did it because everyone in PAGCOR worked 
hard. (continued on p14) Apart from the Corporate Departments, our Ca-
sino Filipino (CF) branch in Tagaytay was also ISO 9001: 2015 certified. 
Because of this endeavor, CF Tagaytay is now one of the few casinos in 
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the world with an ISO certification,” she said. 
The PAGCOR chief added that the ISO 9001: 2015 certifi-

cation symbolizes a job well done for the state-run gaming 
agency. “We were able to establish the necessary systems 
that assure checks and balances. We have a very difficult job 
of raising money for the government. But we managed to 
transform these revenues into projects that help uplift the 
lives of poor Filipinos,” she shared.

PAGCOR’s ISO 9001:2015 certification was awarded by 
third party certifying body Societe Generale de Surveillance 
(SGS), the world’s leading inspection, verification, testing 
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Members of the PAgCOR 
board led by Chairman and 
CEO Andrea domingo and CF 
Tagaytay branch Manager 
victor Crisostomo (extreme 
right) receive the agency’s IsO 
9001:2015 certification.

and certification company.
SGS Managing Director Ariel Miranda commended PAG-

COR for successfully meeting the ISO 9001:2015 certification 
requirements. 

“Having the ISO 9001:2015 certification means that 
PAGCOR is already complying and maintaining the Quality 
Management Systems standard with the additional process 
provided by the 2015 version. A lot of companies now – in-
cluding government agencies and corporations – are gear-
ing towards ISO certification because these are demanded 
by the clients and other stakeholders,” Miranda said. 
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PAGCOR’s table game operations in its Casino Filipino 
branches and satellites nationwide earned P11.75 bil-
lion in Gross Gaming Revenue (GGR) in 2017. This is 

2.9% or P330 million production increase compared to the 
P11.42 billion earnings in 2016. Tables coped with the clo-
sures of Iligan, Tagum, Iloilo and Cavite coliseum in 2017 de-
spite the loss of capacity and ever-increasing competition in 
NCR and Central Luzon. Moreover, compared to other oper-
ational products, tables retained more for Net Gaming Reve-
nue (NGR) at 97% of the GGR.

Cumulative target for Luzon CF properties (Ange-
les/Olongapo/Tagaytay/Ilocos Norte) was exceeded by 
21.20% (P506.6 million). Luzon properties also improved 
their production from P2.347 billion in 2016 to P2.9 billion 
in 2017.

Like the previous year, CF Angeles and its satellites consis-
tently led the Luzon group with a 25% above -target perfor-
mance. From P1.6 billion in 2016, their revenue earnings for 
2017 was at P1.968 billion.

Meanwhile, for the Metro Manila group, CF Malate posted 
a 17.5% increase from P1.846 billion in 2016 to P2.170 billion 
in 2017. The branch also boasted of no-loss months during 
the second semester of 2017.   

Moreover, overall junket production exceeded 2017 tar-
get by P0.11 billion and posted a 28% increase from 2016’s 
P0.85 billion to P1.079 billion in 2017.

To cater to a broader market, new properties were opened 

Gaming table operations earn

P11.75 billion
in CF Manila Bay (30 tables), Cebu (Venturra Junket-20 tables 
/ Bellagio Junket – 6 tables) and Boracay (Alpha Allied Junket 
– 20 tables). 

Apart from the earnings, other non-financial highlights 
achieved in 2017 were the inclusion of casinos as covered 
persons under the Anti-Money Laundering, imposition of 
the no-smoking policy in casinos, strict enforcement of the 
ban on government employees inside casinos and approval 
of the Modified Sharing Scheme with Monthly Guaranteed 
Share (65-35 sharing scheme with a monthly guaranteed 
share).

Assistant Vice President for Gaming Tomas Consolacion 
said the growth in table games operations is attributed to 
“the competent workforce who relentlessly delivers its ser-
vices from decision-making, research, performance monitor-
ing, logistics management, to manpower development and 
due diligence for CF and partner entities.” 

To sustain good performance, GD plans to implement the 
following endeavors in the next three years:

•	 Increase	GGR	of	PAGCOR-operated	casinos

•	 Level-up	junket	and	partner	casino	production

•	 Effective	discharge	of	regulatory-related	functions

•	 Improve	operational	efficiency,	new	products	and	ser-
vices and create harmonious relationships with existing 
and new business partners/proponents.
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SLOT MACHINE’S UPTREND 
OPERATIONS CONTINUE IN

 2017
BUOYED	by	its	previous	income	performance,	PAGCOR’s	

slot machine operations rang loudly anew in 2017 as it 
surpassed the revenues it posted in 2016.

Gross gaming revenue (GGR) figures derived from the 
fully-owned sites and VIP Clubs of PAGCOR in 2017 totaled 
P14.45 billion. The amount was P221.36 million higher than 
the P14.23 billion the agency generated during the previous 
year.

Income figures based on the combined 65% sharing 
scheme of VIP Clubs and 100% income of all PAGCOR-owned 
sites, on the other hand, yielded P12.09 billion – an incre-
ment of 1.23% or P146.49 million from the P11.94 billion 
PAGCOR posted in 2016.

PAGCOR’s Slot Machine Department (SMD) reported that 
revenues earned from the gaming machines accounted for 

54% of its total gaming income of P22.45 billion in 2017. The 
agency was able to attain the feat despite the closure of its 
Iligan and Tagum satellites and its Casino Filipino branch in 
Iloilo and the cessation of operations of its VIP Club in Cavite 
Coliseum.

SMD is bullish about sustaining this uptrend as it laid out 
the following plans and programs for 2018:

•	 Upgrading of slot machine complement through the 
procurement of 500 new slot machine units.

•	 Improvement in the percentage connectivity to Slot 
Machine Online System (SMOS) of slot machines.

•	 Development and conduct of training programs.
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iN 2017, PAGCOR posted a total of P9.626 billion earnings 
from bingo activities conducted by the agency as well as 
its licensed bingo operators around the country.  These 

activities include the in-house bingo operations of Casino 
Filipino (CF), mobile bingo, quarterly linked games of PAG-
COR’s Bingo Department (BD), commercial bingo games of 
licensees and electronic bingo machines of licensed entities. 

Of the P9.626 billion, P8.528 billion was PAGCOR’s share 
from licensed electronic bingo, P925 million was PAGCOR’s 
share from licensees’ commercial bingo operations (tradi-
tional and its variations) and P173.06 million was the agen-
cy’s gross revenue net of payouts from its own bingo activ-
ities. 

PAGCOR’s in-house bingo revenue surpassed its target 
by 13.46% and is 1.38% higher than 2016’s record.  Of the 
P173.06 million, P168.83 million came from regular bin-
go-inhouse conducted by BD and CF while P4.22 million was 
derived from mobile bingo operations.

In 2017, BD continued organizing major traditional bin-
go sessions offering a minimum of P1 million payout every 
quarter, dubbed as Shower of Millions. For this event alone, 
PAGCOR posted P9.75 million gross revenues from the sale 
of 11,335 tickets on March 19, 2017.  In the succeeding quar-
ters, gross sales were recorded at P10.25 million from the 
sale of 11,622 tickets (June 8), P9.9 million from 11,402 tick-
ets (September 17), and P12.36 million from 12,314 tickets 
(December 17).

According to Bingo Department’s Assistant Vice President 
Maria Teresa Ocampo, PAGCOR’s bingo events for 2017 ben-

PAGCOR and its licensees generate

from bingo operations
P9.62 billion

efitted various civic organizations through the agent-recipi-
ent program as well as mobile bingo sessions with the spon-
sor-beneficiary scheme.  “More than hitting revenue targets 
and boosting customer attendance in our Casino Filipino 
venues, our bingo events also aim to raise funds for our part-
ner organizations’ outreach projects,” Ocampo said.

PAGCOR’s share from licensed bingo decreased by 0.86% 
in 2017 compared to the previous year.  This may be attribut-
ed to the assertion of the agency’s regulatory functions such 
as compliance to distance requirements and other restric-
tions. 
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CASINO FILIPINO OPENS
ITS NEWEST ATTRACTION

(Above) The Rizal 
Park Hotel locat-
ed at the south-
drive Road, T.M. 
kalaw Extension 
in Ermita, Manila 
is home of the 
newly-opened CF 
Manila bay. 

(Left) Top man-
agement leads the 
ribbon-cutting 
ceremony mark-
ing the opening 
of Casino Filipino 
Manila bay. 

21

CasiNo Filipino (CF) patrons now have a new spot to 
relax and have fun while they are in the heart of Ma-
nila.

The CF Manila Bay – housed at the Rizal Park 
Hotel along T.M. Kalaw Extension in Ermita, Manila – offi-
cially opened last August 9, 2017.  It boasts of elegant and 
spacious two-floor gaming areas that measure about 6,500 
square meters per level.  

PAGCOR’s newest “playground” has 372 slot machines, 31 
table games, a wide bingo area, and three VIP rooms. 

CF Manila Bay Branch Manager Raymundo De Guzman 
expressed high hopes that the new branch will soon be-
come one of the favorite destinations of CF patrons. “CF 
Manila Bay is strategically located near cultural tourist 
spots like Luneta Park, Manila Ocean Park and Intramur-
os. It will be great if we cater to tourists nearby.   If they 
experience our unique offerings, they will be our walk-

ing advertisers.  Plus, we have a minimum of 100 secured 
parking slots for the convenience of our patrons.” he ex-
plained.  

De Guzman added that prior to the branch’s opening, 
his team conducted an information drive to entice new 
players. “We also implemented programs suited for our 
target market such as the Foreign Tour Group Monitoring 
Program (FTGMP) where international tour groups are en-
couraged to include CF Manila Bay in their itinerary,” the 
branch head shared. 

Rizal Park Hotel is a restoration of an iconic and historical 
landmark.  With the completion of Phase 1, it will have 74 
elegantly furnished guestrooms in colonial-era design and 
replete with chandeliers.  In addition to the lobby lounge, 
all-day dining restaurant and al fresco courtyard which are 
now operational, RPH will have an infinity pool at the 4th 
floor with a view of the seawall, a gym and a sky bar. 



PHILIPPINE AMUSEMENT AND GAMING CORPORATION

22 GAMING and OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS   |

(Above, from left) Pres-
idential Legal Counsel 

salvador Panelo, PAgCOR 
satellite Operations 

group 1 branch Manager 
Jethro Chancoco, MJC In-
vestments Chairman and  
CEO Atty. Alfonso Reyno, 

Manila City Mayor Joseph 
Estrada, PAgCOR  Chair-

man and CEO Andrea 
domingo, Ombudsman 

Conchita Carpio-Mo-
rales and department of 
Tourism undersecretary 

Falconi Millar join the 
ribbon-cutting ceremo-
ny of Winford Hotel and 

Casino. 

(Right)
PAgCOR Chairman and 

CEO Andrea domingo 
delivers her message 
during Winford Hotel 

and Casino’s grand 
opening.
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the Philippine gaming industry once again showed 
promising growth with the formal opening of the Win-
ford Hotel and Casino last April 21, 2017. 

The towering five-star hospitality brand that sits at the 
historic 16-hectare San Lazaro Tourism and Business Park 
(SLTBP) in Sta. Cruz, Manila, incorporates luxury, gaming and 
exciting entertainment alternatives for its clients.

Winford Hotel and Casino, which is owned and operated 
by the Manila Jockey Club (MJC) Investment Corporation, is 
accessible to nearby cities such as Caloocan, Malabon, Navo-
tas, and Valenzuela (CAMANAVA).

Within the 22-storey hotel are 128 deluxe rooms, a 1000+ 
capacity ballroom that can accommodate MICE (meetings, 
incentives, conferences, and events), a swimming pool, gym 
and wellness spa, a coffee shop and dining area, retail out-
lets, a helipad, and a convenient eight-level parking space for 
guests.

Winford’s casino is operated by PAGCOR under the terms 
of the license issued to MJC. 

“Winford’s three-level entertainment and gaming area 
has been opened to its full capacity with 600 slot machines 
and 110 gaming tables.  We are confident that our patrons 

FORMALLY OPENS
will surely enjoy these first-class gaming facilities.,” said PAG-
COR’s Satellite Operations Group (SOG) 1 Branch Manager 
Jethro Chancoco. 

PAGCOR Chairman and CEO Andrea Domingo who 
graced the opening ceremonies, commended Winford 
“for adhering to the new policy of PAGCOR which is to 
encourage integrated resort casinos rather than just con-
centrate on gaming.”

Inside the P8 billion development is entertainment venue 
Hippodrome, named after San Lazaro’s famed horse race-
track. The Hippodrome is set to showcase world-class pop-
ular acts from here and abroad.   

The Winford development joins high-end residential con-
dominiums in SLTBP being developed jointly by MJC Invest-
ments Corp., Ayala Land, Inc., and SM San Lazaro.

Winford Hotel and Casino is easily reached through ma-
jor road arteries from downtown Manila via Rizal and Lacson 
Avenues, served by the Tayuman and Blumentritt stations 
of the Manila Light Rail Transit System Line 1 and the PNR 
railway station. It will also be accessible soon via the Metro 
Manila Skyway when it links the luxury structure to both the 
North and South Luzon expressways by 2019. 

(Above) A toast for Winford Hotel and Casino.

(Left) MJC Investments Chairman and CEO Atty. Alfonso 
Reyno welcomes guests.

 WINFORD HOTEL
AND CASINO
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the Philippine gaming industry sustained its 
growth momentum in 2017 after its gross gam-
ing revenue (GGR) from casinos, electronic gam-

ing sites and offshore gaming reached a double digit 
increase of 11.62%. Consolidated GGR amounted to 
P176.50 billion from the previous P158.11 billion in 
2016.

Of the sectors that comprise the local gaming in-
dustry, the biggest revenue contributors were the 
PAGCOR-operated gaming venues and the licensed 
casinos at the Entertainment City, Clark and Thunder-
bird which posted a total of P152.55 billion GGR. This 
amount was 13.79% higher than the 2016 casinos’ 
GGR of P134.05 billion.

A huge bulk of the GGR from the casino sector 
came from Entertainment City licensees (P109.38 bil-
lion) which include City of Dreams, Solaire Resort and 
Casino, Resorts World Manila and Okada Manila. It was 
followed by PAGCOR-operated properties (P34.37 bil-
lion), Clark licensees (P7.04 billion) and Thunderbird 
casinos (P1.74 billion). 

Next to casinos, the second biggest source of GGR 
in 2017 was the electronic gaming sector which con-
tributed P23.63 billion. This sector includes electronic 
games, bingo (including traditional bingo) and sports 
betting. 

The gaming industry’s robust performance is ex-
pected to remain steady in 2018. In a forecast by inter-
national financial firm Morgan Stanley, the Philippine 
casino industry’s performance is projected to sus-
tain its growth with the ‘expansion of Macau junkets 
abroad and the rebound of regional VIP’s strength. 

registers 
P158.11 billion
in 2017

GAMING and INDUSTRY UPDATES   |24
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Up by
11.63%

Local gaming industry’s

GGR

24



2017 ANNUAL REPORT

25

as the Philippines continues to position itself as a prime tourist destination in Asia, some of the major cities in the coun-
try are opening doors to world-class development. 

In 2017, Pampanga and Cebu became the newest integrated resort destinations in the country after PAGCOR grant-
ed provisional licenses to Donggwang Clark Corporation (DCC), Udenna Development Corporation (UDC), Millennium Pan-
Asia Hotel and Resort, Inc. (MPHRI) and Universal Hotels and Resorts, Inc. (UHRI) to operate integrated resorts and give the 
country’s tourism industry a vibrant boost.

PAGCOR thumbs up establishment of Casino
Integrated Resorts in Pampanga and Cebu

PAgCOR President and COO Alfredo Lim joins korean firm donggwang Clark Corporation officials led by Chairman Lee 
shin kun during the signing of the provisional license to build and operate a casino resort in Clarkfield, Pampanga.    

US$300 million lifestyle resort
in Mandaue City

Millennium Pan-Asia Hotel and Resort, Inc. (MPHRI), a 
subsidiary of the Hong Kong Goldenway Group, will put up 
a US$300 million lifestyle resort in Mandaue City, Cebu. It is 
designed to rival some of the integrated resorts in the Philip-
pines and the greater Asia-Pacific region.

The main attraction of the resort-casino include contem-
porary entertainment and leisure facilities such as hotels, 
luxury shopping areas, restaurants featuring international 
cuisines,	a	3D	or	 IMAX	theater	and	high-rise	condotels	and	
serviced residences.

MPHRI	 Chief	 Executive	 Officer	 Justin	 Xiao	 said	 the	 new	
attraction in Cebu aims to cater to the luxurious lifestyle of 
both domestic and international travelers. He added that the 
integrated resort will generate around 4,000 to 5,000 jobs.

The project, which is expected to be carried out in three 
phases, is projected to be completed by 2022. It targets to 
obtain at least 50% of the casino market share in Cebu, total-
ing to around P5 to P7 billion a year.

Casino resort in Clark
While Clarkfield in Pampanga has long been regarded as 

a key tourism hub in Central Luzon, the former US Air Force 
base is poised to become a global attraction with DCC con-

(seated from left) 
MPHRI CEO Justin 
Xiao, PAgCOR 
Chairman and 
CEO Andrea do-
mingo, President 
and COO Alfredo 
Lim and director 
Carmen Pedrosa 
sign the Provi-
sional License 
for the us$300 
million integrat-
ed resort that 
will soon rise in 
Mandaue City. 
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PAgCOR board headed by Chairman and CEO Andrea domingo (3rd from right) with uHRI executives led by uHRI Presi-
dent Frederick go (4th from left). 

structing a casino resort that boasts of modern amenities.
DCC is the Philippine subsidiary of South Korea’s Sun Val-

ley Group, which is known for its state-of-the-art golf cours-
es, hotels, water theme parks, housing and other property 
development-related projects. The Clark project will occu-
py a total gross floor area of over 50,000 square meters on a 
304-hectare land with an altitude of 370 meters above sea level, 
offering a magnificent view of Pampanga’s mountain ranges.

An investment of at least US$200 million was committed 
by the company for the construction of the casino resort 
that will have two world-class 18-hole golf courses and will 
soon be home to the five-star Hilton Clark Hotel. 

DCC Chairman Lee Shin Kun said the casino resort master 
plan will include a serviced residence hotel, private villas, a 
nature park, an indoor water park and retail outlets. The ca-
sino gaming area, meanwhile, will offer PAGCOR-approved 
table games and the latest slot machines. It will only occu-
py 7.5% of the total gross floor area of the development, in 
compliance with the state-run firm’s regulation on the estab-
lishment of a casino facility. The casino resort is expected to 
be completed by the latter part of 2018.

World-class leisure
facility in Cebu City

Aside from UDC and MPHRI, another integrated resort 
will rise in Cebu City after Universal Hotels and Resorts, Inc. 
(UHRI) was authorized by PAGCOR to put up a project that 
will be comprised of three hotels, a casino, a shopping cen-
ter, a theme park with an iconic art installation and parking 
spaces.

According to UHRI President Frederick Go, the integrated 
resort’s gaming area will be encased in a two-storey podium 
that will offer a variety of PAGCOR-approved table games 
and electronic gaming machines – from classic staples to the 
latest and most modern gaming offerings.

A two-storey commercial and shopping center with a net 
leasable area of approximately 18,000 square meters is also 

set to position the integrated resort as an upscale shopping 
venue. The retail spaces will house an eclectic mix of presti-
gious local and international brands to suit the preferences 
of different customers.

Another attraction of the project, which is projected to 
open in 2022, is the theater for the performing arts with an 
aggregate area of about 2,500 square meters. The best local 
and international talents are anticipated to perform in this 
modern theater in the Visayas.

Also, a 2,000-seater convention center – designed to be the 
biggest in the city – will be built to host national and interna-
tional conventions, events, conferences and expositions.
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PAgCOR and The Emerald officials pose 
around the scale model of the lifestyle  re-
sort in Mandaue City, Cebu.  

First-ever integrated resort
in udeNNa Development Corporation earned the dis-

tinction of being the first company to build a world-
class integrated resort outside Luzon after it formally 

broke ground for the construction of The Emerald Resort 
and Casino in Cebu.

The groundbreaking ceremony, which was held on July 
26, 2017, was led by UDC Chairman and CEO Dennis Uy. 
PAGCOR’s top management led by Chairman and CEO An-
drea Domingo, President and COO Alfredo Lim as well as 
Directors Reynaldo Concordia and Gabriel Claudio graced 
the event.

The US$300 million integrated resort and casino sits on 
a 13.5-hectare prime beachfront in Mactan Island in Lapu-
Lapu City. Once completed (about three years), it is set to 
make the Philippines at par with other premier regional 
destinations designed for leisure, gaming, MICE (meet-
ings, incentives, conventions and exhibitions), and other 
commercial and residential investments.

The Emerald Resort and Casino was designed by re-
nowned American architect Paul Steelman, whose works 
include The Mirage Hotel and Casino in Las Vegas and The 
Sands in Macau.

PHILIPPINE AMUSEMENT AND GAMING CORPORATION

Mactan Island

The scale model of The Emerald and integrated Resort 
and casino which will be constructed by udenna de-
velopment Corporation on the longest prime beach 
front in Lapu-Lapu City. 
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over 300 delegates from various gaming jurisdictions 
across Asia gathered during the inaugural ASEAN 
Gaming Summit held in Conrad Manila last March 21 

to 23, 2017.
PAGCOR Chairman and CEO Andrea Domingo, who was 

the keynote speaker, officially opened the conference. In her 
speech, Domingo underscored PAGCOR’s core mandate –its 
regulatory functions, revenue generation efforts and na-
tion-building programs. 

Domingo stated that PAGCOR is strengthening its en-
forcement and regulatory functions, and such initiative 
“yielded P8 billion more compared to 2015.” With regard to 
its nation building initiatives, PAGCOR’s revenues, according 
to Domingo, is being channelled to various socio-civic pro-
grams – aside from the agency’s mandated contributions. 

The three-day summit served as a venue for the major 
players in the Asian gaming industry to assess and com-
pare market challenges and opportunities. It gathered the 

Philippines hosts
1st

 ASEAN
Gaming Summit

region’s leading gaming operators, regulators and suppliers 
who “are successfully developing the next generation of 
gaming offerings, both terrestrial and online.”

On the first day of the summit, the topics covered includ-
ed the emergence of integrated resorts, regulation, tourism 
infrastructure, regional opportunities, developments and 
competition.

On Day 2, marketing and growth strategies, land-based 
and online gaming were tackled. On the last day of the con-
ference, topics focused on new products and innovation as 
well as marketing and customer acquisition.
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PAgCOR executives headed by PAgCOR Chairman and CEO Andrea domingo (9th from right) and President and COO Alfre-
do Lim (10th from right) participate in the 1st AsEAn gaming summit held at Conrad Manila in Pasay City from March 21 
to 23, 2017. 

Chairman and CEO 
Andrea domingo 
(center) joins the 
top executives of 
the four Entertain-
ment City licensees 
who are also speak-
ers during the 2017 
AsEAn gaming 
summit.  Also in 
photo are the sum-
mit organizers - 
Asia gaming brief’s 
Managing direc-
tors Luis Pereira 
(extreme left) and 
Rosalind Wade 
(extreme right).

Chairman and CEO Andrea domingo (seated, center) with PAgCOR executives; Asia gaming brief Managing directors Ro-
salind Wade (standing 3rd from right) and Luis Pereira (standing 6th from right); City of dreams Manila Property President 
geoff Andres (seated 3rd from left); and Okada Manila President steve Wolstenholme (seated 3rd from right) during the 1st 
day of the 2017 AsEAn gaming summit.
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the year 2017 saw a giant leap in the local gaming 
industry after the Casino Implementing Rules and 
Regulations (CIRR) designating casinos as covered 
persons took effect.

Republic Act number 10927 (An Act Designating Casinos 
as Covered Persons under RA No. 9160) and the CIRR of RA 
10927 state that all casinos operated by PAGCOR, as well as 
its licensed gaming operations are now covered entities un-
der Republic Act Number 9160 or the Anti-Money Launder-
ing Act of 2001 (AMLA).

With the amendment of the AMLA, single casino cash trans-
actions in excess of P5 million or its equivalent currency, must 
be reported to the Anti-Money Laundering Council (AMLC).

The CIRR aims to prevent the Philippine gaming industry 
from being exploited as venue for Money Laundering and 
Terrorist Financing. It applies to all casinos, including inter-
net and ship-based casinos, as well as electronic bingo and 
electronic games operating within the Philippines’ territorial 
jurisdiction.  Traditional bingo is exempted.

The CIRR also designates PAGCOR as an Appropriate Gov-
ernment Agency (AGA), and as such, it has the responsibility 
to implement the AMLA in gaming operations. 

PAGCOR Chairman and CEO Andrea Domingo said the 
CIRR is beneficial to the local gaming industry because it 
will protect casinos and other gaming facilities from money 
laundering. 

PAGCOR as AGA
Among its functions as AGA, PAGCOR will issue AML regu-

lations for implementation by its licensees.  It will also conduct 
inspections of facilities and documents to ensure proper com-
pliance to the law.

Together with other AGAs, PAGCOR will recommend to 
AMLC future exemptions based on risk-based assessment.  

The Legal Services Group (LSG) also recommended to the 
Board the creation of PAGCOR’s AML Supervision and Enforce-
ment Department (PASED) to spearhead AML implementa-
tion and compliance to the law.  This was approved in princi-
ple before the year ended.

During the signing of the CIRR last October 25, 2017, Chair-
man Domingo stated that PAGCOR has already implemented 
a system to prevent money laundering activities in its Philip-
pine Offshore Gaming Operations (POGO). “We have launched 

PHILIPPINE AMUSEMENT AND GAMING CORPORATION

 Philippine gaming entities
covered by amended AMLA

the online gaming facility product. But we have done things 
such as having an independent third party service provider. 
There would be mirroring applications attached to all table 
and electronic gaming machines. They all have lock mecha-
nisms. If there are anomalous transactions detected, the ap-
plication will lock down the machines,” she shared.

Casino Filipino’s anti-money laundering measures
As operator, PAGCOR must formulate a Money Launder-

ing Prevention Program (MLPP), which will serve as internal 
AML procedures for Casino Filipino branches and Satellites.

The Gaming Department is enhancing its Player Track-
ing System (PTS) to  comply with AMLA requirements such 
as	 know-your-customer	 (KYC)	 and	 reporting	 of	 suspicious	
transactions . 

“We have done these measures to protect our country 
from predators such as the money launderers, including 
those involved in criminality and illegal transactions,” CEO 
Domingo cited.

CIRR of RA 10927
The Anti-Money Laundering Council (AMLC) together 

with other AGAs – PAGCOR, Aurora Pacific Economic Zone 
and Freeport Authority (APECO) and Cagayan Economic 
Zone Authority (CEZA) – were present during the signing of 
the CIRR at the Century Park Hotel in Malate, Manila.

Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas (BSP) Governor Nestor Espe-
nilla, Jr., who is also the chairman of AMLC, explained that 
under the CIRR, casinos are expected to implement mon-
ey-laundering and terrorist financing prevention programs. 

“AGAs have the principal responsibility of taking action 
to deny use of gaming facilities for illicit money flows. Casi-
nos are expected to have risk-based money laundering pro-
grams covering the areas of customer identification and due 
diligence, transaction reporting and record-keeping. The 
casino regulators and the AMLC will be cooperating in this 
endeavor to ensure that the objective of the AMLC and CIRR 
is achieved,” he said.

“We definitely have a long way to go. But we already took 
a giant step in the right direction. The AMLC stands ready to 
cooperate with our casino regulators to ensure that Philip-
pine casinos will not be used as channels for money-laun-
dering by terrorist financing,” Espenilla explained. 
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Striving for business success and beating past achievements have 
become a way of life for PAGCOR. But what gives the Corporation 

a deeper sense of purpose is the joy of touching lives. 

There is fulfillment in reaching out to marginalized sectors, displaced 
families affected by calamities, impoverished school children burdened 
by malnutrition, wounded soldiers, the youth needing decent learning 

facilities and other educational tools like computers and school kits. 

PAGCOR’s role in nation-building goes beyond gaming. 

And we will continue to HELP THE FILIPInO WIn.

C O R P O R A T E  S O C I A L  R E S P O N S I B I L I T Y
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teNs of thousands of students from close to 900 public 
schools nationwide are now holding classes in modern 
and comfortable classrooms after PAGCOR, together 

with its partner-agencies, completed the construction of 
6,000	classrooms	as	of	CY	2017.	

PAGCOR’s Schoolbuilding Project, which is being car-
ried out in partnership with the Department of Education 
(DepEd) and the Department of Public Works and Highways 
(DPWH), aims to help address classroom shortage and se-
vere classroom congestion in public schools nationwide.

National Capital Region
In the National Capital Region, the Padre Gomez Elemen-

tary School (PGES) in Manila was the first public school in 
the City of Manila to receive a school building from PAGCOR. 
PGES received a four-storey, 20-classroom structure that 
would house over 1,300 kindergarten and Grade 4 students 
who used to hold classes in three-decade old condemned 
buildings.

In Quezon City, over 6,000 elementary students were 

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY   |

Pupils of P. gomez Elementary school will no 
longer endure holding classes in this decrepit 
three-decade-old building (right below) due 
for demolition, following PAgCOR’s school 
building donation.

SCHOOL BUILDING
PROJECT6,000 completed classrooms benefit 

public school students
blessed with multi-storey PAGCOR buildings. The Cubao 
Elementary School and Project 6 Elementary School each 
received a four-storey, 20-classroom building which helped 
ease their congestion problems.

Luzon
In the province of Cavite, a total of 246 classrooms were 

completed in 22 public schools including the Amaya School 
of Home Industries, Imus Pilot Elementary School, Agui-
naldo Elementary School, Binakayan National High School, 
Salinas II Elementary School, Cayetano Topacio Elementary 
School, Gen. E. Aguinaldo National High School, Langkaan I 
Elementary School, Bautista Elementary School, Dasmariñas 
Elementary School, Salawag National High School, Francisco 
E. Barzaga National High School, Bagong Buhay Elementa-
ry School, Bulihan National High School, San Gabriel I Ele-
mentary School, Carmona Elementary School, Gov. Ferrer 
National High School (Annex), Bucal National High School, 
Brgy. Banaba Cerca Elementary School, Marahan Elementa-
ry School, Bancaan Elementary School and Tua Elementary 
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(Above) PAgCOR donated multi-storey buildings to four 
public schools in benguet.  (Left) This four-storey learning 
structure in Amaya school of Home Industries in Tanza 
is among the 246 classrooms donated by PAgCOR to the 
province of Cavite. 

School.
PAGCOR also turned over a two-storey, eight-classroom 

school building to Palina East National High School and a 
one-storey, six-classroom structure to Palina West National 
High School, both in Pangasinan.

Further up north, the province of Ilocos Sur once again 
became a recipient of PAGCOR’s Schoolbuilding Program 
following the turnover of a two-storey, six-classroom build-
ing to Ilocos Sur National High School in Vigan City and the 
inauguration of a one-storey, five-classroom building at the 
Banaoang Community School in the town of Santa.

PAGCOR likewise turned over a total of 72 classrooms to 
four public schools in Benguet.

Visayas
The agency donated a total of 74 brand new classrooms 

to several public schools in Negros Occidental. Among the 
beneficiaries were Doña Hortencia Salas Benedicto Nation-
al High School in La Carlota City (two-storey,10 classrooms); 
Hinigaran-A Elementary School (four-storey, 16 classrooms); 

PAgCOR leaves an indelible mark in the promotion of edu-
cation by building classrooms even in far-flung provinces.

|   SCHOOL BUILDING PROJECT
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A brand new PAgCOR school building is unveiled at the 
East bayugan Central Elementary school in Agusan del sur.

Barangay Eustaquio Lopez National High School (two-storey, 
10 classrooms); Sum-ag National High School (three-storey, 
18-classroom) and  Mansilingan Agro-Industrial High School 
in Bacolod City (four-storey, 20 classrooms).

One of the provinces awarded with more classrooms in 
2017 was Iloilo, which received 172 new learning venues for 
the year, benefiting a total of 12 public schools.

Two public schools in Aklan, meanwhile, received two-sto-
rey, six-classroom buildings each.

In Siquijor, PAGCOR turned over 15 classrooms to two 
state-subsidized learning institutions in the province.

Two public schools in Cebu also got 20 classrooms each 
from the state gaming firm, providing comfort and aiding 
in improving the students’ academic performance in these 
learning institutions.

Mindanao
PAGCOR also turned over a total of 71 brand new class-

rooms to Bernardo D. Carpio National High School and Sixto 
Babao Elementary School in Davao City, Cabadbaran City 
National High School in Agusan del Norte and West Pros-
peridad National High School and East Bayugan Central El-
ementary School in Agusan del Sur.
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PAGCOR once again touched the lives of thousands of undernourished students from several public schools in 2017 after 
it allotted P45.6 million for the Feeding Program.

A total of 12,680 undernourished pupils from 105 public schools nationwide attained their target healthy weight after 
a four-month feeding session conducted by the state-owned firm. 

PAGCOR’s Feeding Program, which has been in place since July 2010, aims to help address the nutritional needs of severely 
undernourished public school students in selected elementary schools by providing them with nutritious meals for 120 days. 

In coordination with the Department of Education, the project also helps supplement the existing government feeding 
programs and hopes to address the worsening malnutrition among Filipino children. 

benefits over 12,000 undernourished kids
FEEDINGPROGRAM

PAGCOR’s

PAgCOR’s Feeding Program has 
been addressing the nutritional 
needs of severely undernour-
ished public school students 
in selected elementary schools 
since July 2010.
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One of the beneficiaries of the program was seven-year-
old Faisa Jumadil, a Grade 3 student at Zonta Elementary 
School (ZES) in Davao City, and a resident of Isla Verde, a de-
pressed coastal community inhabited by Muslims.

Whenever her father, a fisherman, could not go fishing 
due to bad weather, Faisa would go to school on an empty 
stomach. Sometimes, the bad weather condition would last 
for days, depriving the family of a decent meal. 

Despite her shy and frail demeanor, Faisa is an epitome 
of determination. She would quietly pore over her books in 
one corner of their humble seaside abode. At a very young 
age, the young girl hopes to help her family get out from 
extreme poverty.

Faisa’s perseverance and her family’s plight caught the at-
tention of ZES teacher Marilou Figuracion. When PAGCOR’s 
Feeding Program chose their school as one of the beneficia-
ries, she did not think twice about including Faisa as ben-
eficiary. Along with other beneficiaries, the young girl was 
fed with a complete meal composed of rice, meat, vegetable 
and fruits. In over three months, Faisa gained 2.2 kilos under 
the Feeding Program. 

In 2017, Casino Filipino (CF) Angeles had the highest number of 
recipients which reached 4,000. CF Cebu and Davao came in sec-

ond and third with 2,060 and 1,200 beneficiaries, respectively.

Living in a depressed 
area is difficult but 
despite her family’s dire 
condition, Faisa is still 
determined to go to 
school even on an empty 
stomach.
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Earthquake victims in Leyte
get immediate aid from PAGCOR

WheN a 6.5 magnitude earthquake hit Leyte province, 41-year-
old Elmer Garces of Barangay Lake Danao in Ormoc City, sin-
gle father of three – was deeply saddened and shocked upon 

learning that he lost his house in the afternoon of July 6, 2017. 
He found himself homeless along with other locals who were trans-

ferred to an evacuation site in Ormoc, Leyte. 
Their situation at the evacuation center was so deplorable that his 

family had to share a small tent with three other families. In spite of the 
inconvenience, he was glad that his children – aged 15, 12 and eight – 
were pulled out of the danger zone. 

Garces said that despite their sorry plight, he is still thankful for indi-
viduals and organizations that gave basic necessities like food, water, 
temporary shelter, comfort rooms and medicines were immediately 
made available to them. 

PAGCOR was one of the agencies that provided speedy help to 
Garces and other earthquake victims, allocating over P2 million for the 
relief goods and tent extensions that were distributed to 3,000 affect-
ed families in Ormoc City and Kananga town in Leyte. 

The city of Ormoc likewise received 1,500 relief packs and tent ex-
tensions from the state-owned gaming firm.

Seven barangays in Kananga and 13 in Ormoc were badly affected 
by the earthquake. It damaged several houses, schools, roads, crops, 
among others.
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The difficulty 
experienced 

by earthquake 
victims In Or-

moc, Leyte who 
were forced 

to live in small 
tents in an 

evacuation site 
was somehow 

relieved by the 
generosity and 
compassion of 

agencies like 
PAgCOR, which 
provided swift 

assistance.

Assistance for Mountain Province and Cagayan de Oro typhoon victims
the provinces of Cagayan de Oro and Mountain Province 
also received financial assistance from PAGCOR on January 
10, 2017.

Cagayan de Oro was affected by heavy flooding early 
in January 2017 due to weather disturbances. PAGCOR, 
through its Casino Filipino Davao branch, reached out 
to six barangays in the province including Iponan, Bulua, 
Patag, Kauswagan, Balulang, and Carmen, by distributing 
4,000 relief packs.

According to then Casino Filipino Davao General Manag-
er Dario Cordero, they immediately prepared the relief packs 
after receiving a directive from top management to assist 
affected families in Cagayan de Oro. 

Meanwhile, Mountain Province, which was badly hit by 
Super Typhoon Lawin in October 2016, received P1 million 
financial aid for the immediate rehabilitation of damaged 
agricultural farms, infrastructure, properties, telecommuni-
cations and power lines.

Super Typhoon Nina victims get P7.95 million assistance
MoNths after Super Typhoon Nina hit the Bicol Region in 
December 2016, PAGCOR donated a total of P7.95 million to 
the heavily-devastated towns in the region for the purchase 
of relief packs and construction materials for the typhoon 
victims. 

The additional financial aid was turned over by the PAG-
COR Board to the mayors of several towns in Albay, Naga and 
Camarines Sur. The turnover of financial aid was held at the 
PAGCOR Corporate Office in Malate, Manila in March 2016. 

Tabaco Mayor Cielo Krisel Lagman-Luistro expressed her 
deep gratitude for the Corporation’s continued support to 
local government units especially during calamities. 

“PAGCOR has always been there to assist us. Tabaco as 
well as the first district of Albay are always hit by typhoons 

or volcanic eruptions. Fortunately, PAGCOR has always been 
there,” she said.  

Based on a report from the National Disaster Risk Reduc-
tion and Management Council (NDRRMC), damages to agri-
culture and infrastructure brought by Super Typhoon Nina 
has reached P5.2 billion in Bicol, CALABARZON (Cavite-La-
guna-Batangas-Rizal-Quezon) and MIMAROPA (Mind-
oro-Marinduque-Romblon-Palawan) regions.

A few weeks after the super typhoon hit the Bicol Region 
and some parts of Quezon Province, PAGCOR President and 
Chief Operating Officer Alfredo Lim also spearheaded relief 
missions in typhoon-devastated provinces like Catanduanes, 
Albay, Marinduque, Sorsogon and Quezon. 
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BRIGADA ESKWELA
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PAGCOR participates in DepEd’s 
2017 Brigada Eskwela

Weeks before students trooped back to school in June, 
PAGCOR allocated P2 million to participate in the 
Department of Education’s (DepEd) Brigada Eskwe-

la program. 
The project aims to encourage different sectors in the 

community to participate in the nationwide clean-up drive 
that prepares public schools for the coming year.

PAGCOR has been actively participating in the Brigada 
Eskwela activity since 2012. In 2017, volunteer employ-
ees from different Casino Filipino (CF) branches and satel-
lites cleaned, repainted and repaired classrooms and other 
school furniture. They also donated assorted cleaning mate-
rials to beneficiary-schools.

A total of 22 public schools in communi-
ties hosting CF branches were selected 
as beneficiaries of Brigada Eskwela 
in 2017. 

Schools that benefited in 
Luzon were Burgos Agro 
Industrial School in Ilo-
cos Norte, Upper Sibul 
Elementary School in 
Olongapo City, Bebe 
Matua Elementary 
School in Pampanga 
and Banaba Lejos El-

ementary School and Malabag Elementary School in Cavite.
In the Visayas Region, the beneficiaries were Manipis 

Elementary School, Maghaway Elementary School, Ibo El-
ementary School, Looc Elementary School, Guizo Elemen-
tary School, Umapad Elementary School, Buhisan Elemen-
tary School, Tuong Elementary School, Tungkop Elementary 
School and Nangka Elementary School – all in Cebu, and 
Handumanan Elementary School in Bacolod City.

Meanwhile, the Sixto Babao Elementary School in Davao 
City also benefited from the Brigada Eskwela activity in Min-
danao.

In Metro Manila, beneficiaries included A. Villegas Ele-
mentary School, Andres Bonifacio Elementary School in Ma-
nila and P. Villanueva Elementary School, Bernabe Elemen-
tary School and Gotamco Elementary School in Pasay City.

volunteers from different Casino 
Filipino branches nationwide 

help repair classroom furniture 
during PAgCOR’s participation in 

the 2017 brigada Eskwela.
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Over 14,000 individuals receive Yuletide treats from PAGCOR

PHILIPPINE AMUSEMENT AND GAMING CORPORATION

every Christmas season, PAGCOR brings cheer to thousands of less privileged Filipinos through the Pamaskong Handog 
Project.

In 2017, the agency once again played Santa to 14,389 individuals from 38 organizations and charitable institutions na-
tionwide.

Among those who benefited from the project were people with disability, orphaned and abandoned children, marginalized 
families and youth, senior citizens, street sweepers and garbage collectors, indigenous peoples, urban poor, drug rehab patients, 
fisherfolk and the children or relatives of military personnel who were either killed in action or incapacitated from combat.

PAGCOR allotted a total of P18.67 million for the Christmas gift-giving project, which ran from December 1 to December 22, 
2017.

The lovely smiles of the students from 
the Philippine school for the deaf in 
Pasay City express how grateful they 
are for the Christmas presents they 
received.

Philippine School 
for The Deaf

During the first day of “Pamaskong 
Handog”, the agency reached out to al-
most 700 deaf-mute students from the 
Philippine School for the Deaf in Pasay 
City. The students enjoyed a fun-filled 
party where they received Christmas 
gift packs containing assorted noche 
buena items.
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Urban Poor - Alouette Foundation of the Philippines

A family living inside a cemetery was among 
the urban poor beneficiaries of the Pamaskong 
Handog project.

PAgCOR’s gift-giving project brings joy to young children be-
longing to the underprivileged sectors of society.

Other beneficiaries of the gift-giving project were the 490 families under the care of Alouette Foundation of the Philippines, 
Inc. (AFPI), a non-stock, non-profit, non-government organization providing sponsorship and educational support services to 
underprivileged schoolchildren (elementary to tertiary levels).

beneficiaries of 
gota de Leche in 

sampaloc, Manila 
were once again 

chosen as recipients 
of PAgCOR’s gift-

giving project.

young wards of Hope Caring Christian 
Ministries Foundation Inc. in Man-

daluyong City flash cheerful smiles 
after receiving Christmas gifts.

Also	 receiving	Yuletide	 treats	 from	 PAGCOR	were	 the	
630 wards of Hope Caring Christian Ministries Foundation, 
Inc. and the over 400 individuals from Children’s Mission 
Philippines, Hills of Grace Foundation, Inc.

Orphaned and Abandoned Children
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Armed Forces of the Philippines Educational Benefits Systems Office
PAGCOR also partnered with the Armed Forces of the Philippines Educational Benefit Systems Office in paying tribute to the 

fallen and wounded soldiers through their immediate family members. During the festive “Pamaskong Handog” celebration, 
the state gaming firm turned over P2 million grant for AFP-EBSO so that the dependents of soldiers who were either killed or 
wounded in combat will be able to continue with their studies.

Children and 
relatives of mil-

itary person-
nel who were 

either killed in 
action or inca-

pacitated from 
combat receive 

Christmas gift 
packs.

PAgCOR warms the hearts of close to 5,000 senior citizens from 
Pampanga, Mandaluyong, Pasay, Parañaque and Manila during its 
2017 Pamaskong Handog.

Senior Citizens
Christmas gift-giving activities were likewise con-

ducted for the 1,000 senior citizens in Pampanga and 
the close to 4,000 senior citizens in Pasay, Mandaluy-
ong, Manila and Parañaque. The agency also reached 
out to 1,600 job contract workers from said cities, ex-
cept Mandaluyong.
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Aeta Community
beneficiaries from Olongapo City, which included Aetas and people with dis-
ability, receive their share of yuletide treats .

Fisherfolks of Taguig
Fisherfolk from Taguig City receive 
their share of yuletide goodies from 
the agency.

A drug rehabilitation center and an early childhood education facility in Tagay-
tay City were among the beneficiaries of the Pamaskong Handog program.

2017 ANNUAL REPORT

Other Beneficiaries
The	agency,	through	its	Casino	Filipino	branches	and	satellites	nationwide,	also	brought	Yuletide	joy	to	beneficiaries	from	18	

organizations and charitable institutions nationwide by distributing assorted grocery items and toiletries.

Drug Rehabilitation Center Patients
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the Early Childhood Care and Development Council (EC-
CDC) recognized the contributions of PAGCOR to the 
government’s pre-school care and development pro-

gram. 
PAGCOR’s contributions to the Early Childhood Care and 

Development (ECCD) program started in 2002 by virtue of 
Republic Act 8980. To date, the state-run gaming firm’s con-
tributions has reached P2 billion after remitting P400 million 
per year for five years.

During the Inter-Sectoral Dialogue cum Partners Recog-
nition on December 12, 2017 in Quezon City, ECCD Council 
Vice Chairperson and Executive Director Teresita G. Inciong 
underscored PAGCOR’s vital role in the fulfillment of their 
mandate – especially in establishing development centers 
in various parts of the country. “Through PAGCOR’s funds, 
we were able to put up ECCD centers that serve as learning 
venues for children. PAGCOR’s contributions also funded the 

PAGCOR’s contribution to early childhood care reaches 

P2 billion

Early Childhood Care and development (ECCd) Council vice Chairperson and Executive director 
Teresita Inciong (2nd from leftt) awards the Plaque of Recognition to PAgCOR’s vice President for 
Corporate social Responsibility group Jimmy bondoc for the gaming firm’s vital contribution to 
the ECCd program of the country.  Also in photo are (from left) national Child development Center 
Project unit Head Rommel Isip and ECCd governing board Member Emie garong. 

training of child development teachers and the printing of 
some of our educational materials,” cited Inciong. 

She added that ECCDC came up with a compendium of 
accomplishments to be submitted to PAGCOR to show how 
the Corporation’s contributions is utilized and appreciated 
by the country.  

Apart from the P2 billion initial funding from PAGCOR, 
the ECCD program will continue to receive funding from the 
gaming agency by virtue of Republic Act 10410. ECCD will 
receive P500 million per year for another five years. 

The ECCD Council is the primary agency of the govern-
ment that provides support to early childhood care and de-
velopment programs covering health, nutrition and early 
learning for children ages 0-6 years. 

In	2013,	RA	10410	or	the	Early	Years	Act	repealed	RA	8980	
and changed the definition of early childhood from 0-6 years 
to 0-8 years old.
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to pay tribute to the bravery of Filipino soldiers who 
fought during the Marawi conflict, PAGCOR released 
P24.22 million financial aid for the Armed Forces of 

Philippines and Philippine National Police (PNP) uniformed 
personnel who were either killed or wounded during the 
conflict.

The families of soldiers who were killed in action received 
P50,000 each while those who were wounded received 
P10,000 to P20,000. 

President Rodrigo 
duterte awards 1st Lt. 

Jeffrey Odmen of the 
Philippine navy with 

the Order of Lapu-lapu 
during AFP’s 82nd 

anniversary. Odmen 
is one of over 1,500 

soldiers who were 
wounded during the 

Marawi siege.

PAGCOR releases financial aid to 

WAR HEROES

PAgCOR director Reynaldo Concordia (8th from right), vP for Community Relations group Jimmy bondoc (5th from left) and 
Asst. vP for Community Relations Arnell Ignacio (4th from right) join AFP’s Order of Lapu-lapu awardees during AFP’s 82nd an-
niversary.

PAGCOR released the cash gifts during AFP’s 82nd anni-
versary in Camp Aguinaldo on December 20, 2017 and at the 
PNP’s Multi-Purpose Hall on December 18, 2017. 

Apart from PAGCOR’s cash gift, President Rodrigo Dute-
rte honored AFP and PNP’s casualties and injured. The Or-
der of Lapu-lapu award was given to wounded AFP sol-
diers and PNP personnel while Medals of Valor and Order 
of Lapu-lapu were awarded to those who were killed in 
action.
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to support the government’s campaign against 
illegal online gambling and improve existing 
traffic management facilities, PAGCOR donated 

a total of P9 million to the Philippine National Police 
(PNP) from June to July 2017.

Of the P9 million aid, P5 million went to the PNP’s 
Anti-Cybercrime Group (ACG) for the purchase of 
computers and other equipment that will detect 
internet-based crimes and illegal online gambling. 
The remaining P4 million was allotted to the High-
way Patrol Group (HPG) for the procurement of traf-
fic management and anti-carnapping operations 
equipment.

PNP-ACG Director Police Senior Superintendent 
Marni Marcos, Jr. said their fight against illegal 
gambling is hampered by budgetary constraints 
and the lack of up-to-date forensic tools and oth-
er equipment. “PAGCOR, being our long-standing 
partner against this menace can help provide mod-
ern equipment. Hence, we sought the agency’s as-
sistance to upgrade and develop our capabilities 
against unauthorized online gambling,” Marcos said.

PNP-ACG Police Superintendent Jerry Empizo 

likewise cited that they will use PAGCOR’s P5 mil-
lion grant for the procurement of computer sets, 
laptops, cameras, photocopier and licensed soft-
ware and hardware for digital forensics. “If we have 
better and more efficient equipment, we’d be able 
to eradicate cyber-related crimes such as child por-
nography, intellectual property rights infringement, 
online swindling and financial fraud. We will have a 
safer cyber environment,” he explained.

Aside from strengthening programs against il-
legal online gambling, part of PAGCOR’s financial 
aid to PNP will be used for the procurement of 120 
dashboard cameras and 120 laptop units, cited HPG 
Director Police Chief Superintendent Arnel Escobal.

The equipment will also be used to record actual 
traffic situation and verify wanted vehicles through 
Vehicles Information Management System (VIMS).

PAGCOR has been a staunch supporter of the PNP 
for many years now. In 2011, the state-run agency 
provided P4 million to the PNP General Hospital for 
the purchase of medical equipment. Likewise, PAG-
COR donated 15 mobile patrol cars to the Manila Po-
lice District in 2015.

Corporate social responsibility   |

P9 MILLION

Philippine national Police’s Anti-Cybercrime group director Police senior superintendent Marni Marcos, 
Jr. (2nd from left) receives the P5 million check from PAgCOR Chairman and CEO Andrea domingo (3rd 
from left). The amount will be used for PnP-ACg’s campaign against the proliferation of illegal online gam-
bling. Also in photo are PnP Police superintendent Jerry Empizo (left), PAgCOR President and COO Alfredo 
Lim (2nd from right) and director Rene Concordia (right).

Philippine National Police receives

funding
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PAgCOR Chairman and CEO Andrea d. domingo hands over to Highway Patrol group (HPg) director Police superintendent 
Arnel b. Escobal, the P4 million check representing PAgCOR’s financial assistance to HPg. Joining them are PAgCOR Presi-
dent and COO Alfredo C. Lim (extreme right), HPg Legal Counsel Atty. Edwin Engay (extreme left) and other officials of the 
two agencies.

(From left) HPg Legal Counsel Atty. Edwin Engay, Police superintendent Arnel Escobal, PAgCOR Chairman and CEO Andrea 
domingo and President and COO Alfredo Lim sign the memorandum of agreement on PAgCOR’s support to the improve-
ment of existing traffic management facilities of HPg.  

   |  DONATIONS

❝ Aside from strengthening programs against illegal online gambling, 
part of PAGCOR’s financial aid to PNP will be used for the procurement of 
120 dashboard cameras and 120 laptop units.❞
– suPERInTEndEnT ARnEL EsCObAL, HPG Director Police Chief
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the School Kits for Kids Project of PAGCOR aims to help 
underprivileged public elementary school students na-
tionwide by giving them basic school necessities and 

hygiene kits which their parents could not usually afford. 
The project is also anchored on President Rodrigo Dute-

rte’s directive for PAGCOR to prioritize projects that cater to 
the needs of less fortunate Filipinos.

In 2017, PAGCOR allotted a total budget of P33.12 million 
for the purchase of at least 30,000 school kits which were 
distributed to elementary public school students nation-
wide including Pampanga, Bicol, Bacolod, Davao, Cebu, 
Masbate, Ilocos Norte, Manila, Mandaluyong, Parañaque, 
and Quezon City.

Camarines Sur
Over 3,000 students from selected public elementary 

schools in the Bicol Region became the first beneficiaries of 
PAGCOR’s School Kits for Kids project. One of the recipients 
was Tigaon Central Pilot School (TCPS) -- the biggest public 
elementary school in Tigaon, Camarines Sur in terms of stu-
dent population. 

Aside from TCPS, other beneficiaries were Hanawan Ele-
mentary School, Tigaon North Central School, Huyonhuyon 
Elementary School, Vinagre Elementary School, Malodbalod 
Elementary School, Nato Elementary School, Ocampo Cen-
tral School, Pinit Elementary School, Moriones Elementary 
School and Balaba Elementary School.

Quezon
In Quezon Province, PAGCOR also distributed school 

kits to around 3,000 impoverished pupils in 11 elementary 
schools. 

Among the beneficiaries were the students of Alibijaban 
Elementary School (AES) in Barangay Alibijaban – an island 
community in the remote San Andres town. 

AES head teacher Jennylyn Juacalla said the school sup-
plies given by PAGCOR were a big help to their students. 
Since they live in a remote island community, they seldom 

SCHOOL KITS
FOR KIDS PROJECT

Public elementary school students get basic school supplies

brand new backpacks containing basic school 
necessities and hygiene kits are distributed to 
thousands of public elementary school students 
through the “school kits for kids” project. 

receive help from other institutions. 
Other school recipients in Quezon Province were San 

Andres Central Elementary School, Tala Elementary School, 
Talisay Elementary School, Pugo Elementary School, Inanu-
ran Elementary School, Pansoy Elementary School, Mangero 
Elementary School, as well as several schools in the munici-
palities of San Narciso, San Francisco and Catanauan. 

Northern Luzon
Nearly 5,000 less privileged public school students from 

15 public schools in Tarlac, Pangasinan, La Union, Baguio 
City, Mountain Province, Isabela, Bataan and Bulacan re-
ceived school kits from the agency.

Among the recipients of the project were Singat Elementary 
School in Tarlac; Rabon Elementary School, Sobol Elementary 
School, and Nibaliw Elementary School in Pangasinan; Gonza-
lez Elementary School and San Joaquin Elementary School in 
La Union; Dontogan Elementary School and Gibraltar Elemen-
tary School in Baguio; Bontoc Central School and Bauko Cen-
tral School in Mt. Province; Santiago North Central School and 
Santiago South Central School in Isabela; Sta. Rosa Elementary 
School in Bataan; Sto. Cristo Elementary School and Muzon Ele-
mentary School in Bulacan.

One of the beneficiaries of the School Kits for Kids project 
was Joshua Busoy, sec-

ond grader from Bon-
toc Central School. 
Along with his 200 

schoolmates, 
Joshua was 

more than de-
lighted when 

he received 
a brand new 

backpack con-
taining school 

supplies a 
hygiene kit and 
a pair of rubber 

slippers. 
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‘BAKWITS’
MARAWI

get temporary homes

the Philippine Offshore Gaming Operators (POGO) 
Group, in partnership with PAGCOR, turned over new-
ly-constructed temporary shelters to families displaced 

by a five-month war in Marawi City on December 27, 2017.
Named “Bakwit Village”, the three-hectare community 

featured 16 to 18-square-meter modular units and houses 
made of light wooden materials.

The recipients of the temporary shelters were identified 
by representatives of the Department of Social Welfare and 
Development (DSWD) who were assigned in various evacu-
ation centers.

During the first phase of the project, 300 housing units 
were awarded to families who were forced to flee Marawi 
City when fighting erupted between government forces and 
the ISIS-inspired Maute terrorist group in May 2017. The ben-

eficiaries also received mattresses and P3,000 cash each.
In the first quarter of 2018, an additional 320 housing 

units were scheduled for turn-over. Fifty of which would be 
utilized as commercial spaces for livelihood purposes.

The POGO Group committed to shoulder the electric and 
water expenses of the housing recipients for two years.

More than P124 million was allocated for the construction 
of the housing units, which cost P200,000 each. The turnover 
of the shelters will be handled by the local government unit 
of Marawi City.

Meanwhile, in support of President Duterte’s efforts to re-
habilitate Marawi City, the POGO Group also donated funds 
to help in the repair of mosques and Catholic churches that 
were destroyed during the war.

   |  DONATIONS
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Live Artists. Four tournaments were held last year in 
three sites: CF-Pavilion, CF-Manila Bay and CF-Mactan. 
Matches were broadcast in the other branches through 
video-linked technology. This joint project lead by MD, 
Entertainment, and the participating branches, gen-
erated income from ticket sales, increased play at the 
tables and slots, and record-breaking customer atten-
dance. The most notable achievement of the event was 
attracting new, younger and more diverse market.

In Mactan Satellite, for instance, the CF BETS event 
held on December 13, 2017 resulted in the highest daily 
customer attendance of property in the past two years. 
The 1,885 total number of customers on the day of the 
event was 63% higher than its 2017 monthly average.  
Meanwhile, table games income was 44% higher than 
the daily average while slot machine income was 80% 
higher than the 2017 slot machine gross gaming reve-
nue daily average.

•	 CF	Darts	Tournament	2017
In collaboration with the National Darts Federation 

of the Philippines, this event was designed to tap over 
3,000 active dart players in the country. The dart tourna-
ments were held in CF Angeles and CF Manila Bay with 
participants from as far as Visayas and Mindanao. These 
events yielded a combined 883 total new PTS enrolees, 
increased customer attendance and higher gaming rev-
enues from tables and slot machines. CF Angeles expe-

ENTERTAINMENT AND MARKETING EVENTS   |

aCCordiNg to casino marketing expert Dean Macomber, the 
product that casinos offer is emotion; it is what it ulti-
mately sells and customers ultimately come to buy. He 

further defines this as “leisure experiences, both gaming and 
non-gaming.”

The Marketing Department (MD) attests to this concept 
and thus focused its strategies towards ensuring the quality 
of Casino Filipino’s (CF) product – the total gaming experi-
ence – by partnering with the branches and departments to 
improve systems and processes relevant to the delivery of 
customer service, to innovate on existing programs as well 
as to develop fresh ideas.

Branch Marketing Support
One of the pressing problems faced by the CF properties 

in 2017 was the lack of manpower to carry out vital market-
ing-related tasks. In response, MD deployed its own corpo-
rate personnel to augment the shortage in the branches for 
several weeks at a time.

Among the beneficiaries of this branch augmentation 
were CF-Cebu (Lahug, Talisay & Crown), CF-Davao, CF-Olon-
gapo and Satellite Operations Groups (SOG) 3, 4 and 5.

In December 2017, the Board approved the creation of 
the MD-initiated Marketing and Customer Relations Review 
Committee (MCRRC) to ensure that the activities of branch 
marketing and customer relations are conducted in compli-
ance with MD, PAGCOR’s Quality Management System, and 
ISO 9001:2015 standards.

 
Marketing Programs

The year 2017 was also a milestone year for MD as it intro-
duced new programs as well as continued some of its most 
popular and much-anticipated events:

•	 CF	BETS	(Battle	Extreme	Tournament	of	Super	stars)
One of the most exciting events of the year was 

the holding of CF BETS, the mixed martial arts com-
petition sponsored by PAGCOR, in cooperation with 
Universal Reality Combat Championship (URCC) and 

PHILIPPINE AMUSEMENT AND GAMING CORPORATION

MARKETING
TEAM BOASTS

OF

ACHIEVEMENTS
2017

50
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Mixed Martial Arts fans are treated to 
fierce ring action during the series of 
CF bETs (battle Extreme Tournament of 
superstars).

rienced a 35% increase in customer attendance while 
CF Manila Bay registered a 110.8% rise. Likewise, total 
bets in CF Angeles increased by 52% while the table 
games gross gaming revenues of CF Manila Bay expe-
rienced a 100.41% boost.

•	 Slot	Machine	Promos
Dubbed “Summer Playday,” this slot machine promo 

aimed to create more value for the (SM) Promotional 
Card by qualifying patrons to incentives and cash priz-
es based on their recorded visits and SM turnover per 
month. Participated in by Vis-Min branches (Cebu, Mac-
tan, Parkmall, Crown, Talisay, Bacolod and Davao), the 
highly-successful program ran for a three-month peri-
od and was able to generate net winnings of P109.23 
million – far exceeding its committed target of P9 mil-
lion. The promo ran from April 22 to July 29, 2017.

Meanwhile, the Slot Machine Grand Blowout was im-
plemented in 2017 in all CF properties connected to the 
Gama Ray Casino Management System (GCMS).  Under 
the promo, all Slot Machine Promotional Cardholders 
were able to convert their earned points into loyalty 
credits. A minimum of 1,000 points is required to be 
able to convert to 1,000 Non-Cashable Loyalty Credits 
(NCLC). 

Another slot machine promotion that made a 
comeback in 2017 was the Reel Challenge. It aimed to 
increase the slot machine bets or turnover of SM Pro-
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motional Card holders. Players with the highest SM 
turnover nationwide during three promo runs (April 3 
to May 19; July 17 to August 30; October 2 to November 
6) were entitled to cash prizes of P1 million each. This 
program was credited for a 13% increase in slot ma-
chine turnover of carded players compared to the same 
periods last year.

•	 Real	Deal	National	Raffle
Open to table games, slots and bingo players, this 

program – being one of the most successful –was par-
ticipated in by 19 CF sites. During its two major draws 
(June 30 and December 2, 2017), the program gave 
away total cash prizes worth P120.8 million.

A major measure of success of this program was the 
number of new PAGCOR Privilege Card (PPC) and Slot 
Machine Promotional Card (SMPC) enrolees. The pro-
gram generated 32,061 new registrants for PPC and 
an additional 16,466 for SMPC for a total of 48,527, sur-
passing the 12,000 commitment to the Board by 404% 
or 36,527 more unique names.

•	 Table	Games	Promos
Quarterly Super 6 Derbies were held in 2017, where, 

for a buy-in of P10,000, players nationwide competed 
for the grand prize of P1 million cash and the other priz-
es. This baccarat-based table games program proved 
to be an effective tool in inviting and attracting an av-
erage of 360 active and dormant, mass, high limit, and 
premium segment players at every tournament. Mean-
while, a CF Elite Circle Super 6 Tournament was held for 
VIP and High Limits players. The tournament last Nov. 
11, 2017, attracted 354 players across 19 CF properties 
and resulted in total bets of P491.95 million.

•	 CF	Manila	Bay	soft	opening
MD was also instrumental during the soft launch of 

the Casino Filipino Manila Bay held on August 9, 2017. It 
implemented a migration program, wherein CF Pavilion 
cardholders were transferred to CF Manila Bay. A total 
of 2,028 players availed of this program. Meanwhile, 
MD also introduced the CF Manila Bay Frequency Card 
Promo to encourage customers to increase their visits 
and play in the branch. There were 1,596 availees of this 
frequency card.

•	 Other	Marketing	Programs
Other initiatives that were launched in 2017 include 

the #SaCasinoFilipinoTayo, an employee-based acqui-
sition program which gives incentives to employees 
for inviting players. It was held in the months of June, 
July, and August. A total of 729 enrolees for table games 
and 609 enrolees for slot machine were generated from 
this endeavor. Also, MD initiated the “Basta sa Casino 
Filipino Tayo Promo,” a marketing retention program 
that features a festive theme. It was held in June 2017 
and was participated in by six sites, namely: CF Davao, 
Cebu, Pavilion, Malabon, Iloilo, and Angeles. It yielded 
a combined 14% increase in customer attendance for 
the branches. 

ENTERTAINMENT AND MARKETING EVENTS   |

Premier OPM Artists Featured in Casino Filipino 
Great music and top-notch entertainment continued to 

be enjoyed by Casino Filipino (CF) guests in 2017 as some of 
the country’s best Original Pilipino Music (OPM) performers 
were featured in various CF properties.

The entertainment shows were top-billed by OPM icons 
like Jose Mari Chan, Rey Valera, Basil Valdez, Dingdong Avan-
zado, Jessa Zaragoza, father-and-daughter duo Hajji and Ra-
chel Alejandro, Jun Polistico, Claire dela Fuente, Sitti Navar-
ro, Imelda Papin, Gino Padilla, Erik Santos, Victor Wood, Noel 
Cabangon, Jason Dy, Randy Santiago, Joey Generoso, Jaya, 
Luke Mejares, Angeline Quinto, Nina, Christian Bautista, KZ 
Tandingan and Julie Ann San Jose. 

Other well-known performers who enlivened CF shows 
were The Company, Anton Diva, Liezel Garcia, Ate Gay, Ju-
ris, Andrew E., Jason Fernandez & Osang, Ara Mina, K. Brosas, 
Marissa Sanchez, Glaiza de Castro and Arjo Atayde.

Another highlight of CF’s offerings was the “Superstar 
Experience” - a series of hilarious performances that show-
cased some of the country’s impersonators of famous celeb-
rities and comedians. 

According to Entertainment Department (ED)’s Assistant 
Vice President Bong Quintana, the entertainment offerings 
in 2017 proved to be an effective tool in bringing in custom-
ers to CF properties. “These offerings made our existing cli-
ents stay and enjoy our shows,” he said.

Quintana also shared that celebrity artists were integral 
in CF’s branding as ‘your Pinoy entertainment capital.’ Hence, 
for 2018, ED will continue to provide the branches and satel-
lites with a variety of entertainers.

“We will maintain quality nightly entertainment. We will 
continue our support and assistance to corporate offices 
and branch promotions with the production, technical and 
artists’ requirements. We will ensure that fresh talents, both 
professional and amateur, as well as veteran favorites will 
be brought to the CF stage in more improved productions,” 
Quintana cited. 

Stars Unite for Charity
Some of the country’s most prominent local artists and 

musicians came together in a series of shows for PAGCOR to 
help raise funds for charity.

Dubbed “Unity Benefit Show”, the concert events featured 
three full production shows headlined by volunteer celebri-
ty artists. Through PAGCOR, the artists donated a portion of 
their talent fees to “Duterte’s Kitchen”, a free-food center in 
Cubao, Quezon City that provides meals to street children.

Artists included comic and singing duo Moymoy Pal-
aboy, actor and rap artist Carlos Agassi, alternative/pop 
rock band Shamrock and pop singer Gail Blanco, Thor Dulay, 
acoustic artists Paolo Santos and Princess Velasco, and Side 
A band member Pido. 

Homegrown Filipino Boy Band Launched
In 2017, PAGCOR launched a group of young and talent-

ed male Filipino performers - the CF Boy Bands, who will 
be groomed to showcase vocal styling and on-trend dance 
numbers.

The two boy bands J2U and GoBoyz – are now the latest 
additions to CF’s pool of local artists. The groups were me-
ticulously screened and handpicked by PAGCOR’s Entertain-
ment Department.

J2U is composed of five members: JV, Jasper, Jay, Jao and 
Jake while GoBoyz is composed of Jared, JR, and Jamil.
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PILI-PINAS:
A PAGCOR MUSICAL

PAGCOR employees take center stage
in promoting Philippine folk culture

2017 ANNUAL REPORT

as a stauNCh supporter of Filipino folk culture and the arts, PAGCOR relived the rich ethnicity and heritage of the country 
in an astounding theatrical show dubbed “Pili-Pinas (Choose Philippines): A PAGCOR Musical”.

The grand musical, which was held at the Cultural Center of the Philippines, was top-billed by talented PAGCOR 
employees from different Casino Filipino (CF) branches and Satellite Operations Group (SOGs) from Angeles, Bacolod, Cebu, 
Davao, Ilocos, Olongapo, Tagaytay, Metro Manila, and the corporate offices. 

The 11 performances featured some of the popular Philippine festivals, folklore, dances and mythical characters. Despite 
the diversity, the show was weaved into a simulated cultural tour of local tourists – Philip and Ines (performed by home-

53
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The PAgCOR musical was weaved into a simulated cultural 
tour of two local tourists Ines (dash Camporaso) and Philip 
(Mykel benedicto). The two met Mang Rody (Assistant gam-
ing Officer Marino bautista), a local tour guide who gave 
them a walkthrough on the Philippines’ top tourist destina-
tions, diverse traditions, festivals and folk culture.

The 2017 PAgCOR Musical champion sOgs 1 to 4 pre-
sented the adaptation of the popular Ilocano epic 
“biag ni Lam-Ang”. but instead of a male protagonist, 
the team’s lead role is a female, which gave the show a 
unique twist.
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grown talents Dash Camporado and Mykel Benedicto) and 
tour guide Mang Rody (acted by Assistant Gaming Officer 
Marino Bautista). 

Winning Teams
While all performances successfully depicted Philippine 

culture at its best, SOG 1-4’s interpretation of “Biag ni Lam 
Ang” bagged the championship. The team received P100,000 
cash prize and a trophy.

CF Davao’s version of “Kadayawan” Festival was declared 
1st runner-up while CF Manila Bay’s “Darna” placed 2nd run-
ner-up. The winners received trophies and cash prizes worth 
P75,000 and P50,000, respectively. Non-winning groups re-
ceived P25,000 consolation prizes.

Chairman and CEO Andrea D. Domingo, who performed a 
special dance number during the Musical, commended the 
performers for their artistry and showmanship. She added 
that PAGCOR employees’ talents always amaze her. “When-
ever we have flag raising and flag lowering ceremonies, we 
always hear PAGCORians sing and perform. But it never seiz-
es to amaze me to see so much talent in the PAGCOR family,” 
she expressed.

CF Manila bay, 
which placed 
2nd runner-up, 
revived Mars 
Ravelo’s iconic 
fictional superhero 
“darna” featuring 
a creatively 
portrayed cast 
clad in colorful 
dresses, wigs 
and exaggerated 
make-up.

(Left) CF davao, which placed the 1st runner-up, pulled 
out a socially relevant rendition of the popular street 
dance “kadayawan” that depicted what Mindanao has 
been going through – like the war in Marawi.
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iN 2018, PAGCOR will continue to focus on the strategic objectives hinged on economic relevance and governance. To attain 
these, the agency has laid out the following specific objectives:

1. Increase industry’s gross gaming revenues
PAGCOR is targeting to reach P186.03 billion in industry gross gaming revenues (GGR) in 2018.  This is roughly P15.64 

billion higher than the P170.39 billion actual GGR in 2017.   To achieve this, the agency will continue establishing invest-
ment mapping strategies involving expansion or renewal of gaming operations as well as development of tourism-ori-
ented facilities by casino licensees to complement gaming offers.

Total industry GGR includes revenues from Casino Filipino table games and slot machines, electronic gaming, li-
censed casinos, electronic and traditional bingo, and offshore gaming.

2. Increase contribution to National Government coffers and nation-building efforts
PAGCOR targets to contribute P38.84 billion to national coffers in 2018.  The total contributions to the national gov-

ernment include the remittance of mandated contributions, payment of taxes, remittance of cash dividends and grant 
of subsidies and donations.  

3. Increase the revenue of Casino Filipino
PAGCOR hopes to maintain its own growth momentum by continuously enhancing Casino Filipino’s income-gener-

ating measures by rationalizing costs, targeting a level of net operating income margin, improving its customer service 
and gaming system, operational efficiency and effective marketing strategies.

4. Ensure a conducive business environment within a level playing field
PAGCOR realized US$1.1 billion in licensing investment commitment in 2017.  For 2018, it will increase licensing 

investment commitment, conduct Customer Satisfaction Survey, and ensure investors’ compliance with the regulatory 
framework and licensed casinos’ scorecards.  

5. Improve products and services and operational efficiency
PAGCOR will continue to maintain a certain level of ratio of marketing expenses in comparison with the corporation’s 

winnings.
6. Enhance employee competency and motivation

In 2017, PAGCOR successfully transitioned to ISO 9001:2015 Certification for Quality Management System (QMS) 
from ISO 9001:2008. 

To uphold this culture of excellence, PAGCOR will ensure that it will work on maintaining said certification in 2018. Like-
wise, as PAGCOR had completed the Position Profiles for the Competency Framework Project, the agency will undertake 
capability building on competency assessment and development of competency measurement and assessment tools.

 Strategic Roadmap

The PAgCOR Executive Committee members and staff gather during the strategic Planning conference held from October 24 
to 26, 2017 at the Winford Hotel and Casino Manila. 

PAGCOR’S

for 2018
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Atty. Alfredo C. Lim, President and Chief Operating Officer
President and Chief Operating Officer Alfredo C. Lim was born on November 23, 

1951. 
Born to a family of businessmen, Lim grew up in Ocampo, Camarines Sur. He 

took AB Political Science at the Ateneo de Naga University where he graduated with 
honors in 1972. During the same year, he enrolled in San Beda College of Law and 
finished his Law degree in 1976. After passing the bar, he worked as a Corporate Legal 
Counsel for various corporations here and abroad, handled many celebrated cases 
and made a mark in his private law practice, which spanned for decades. 

A philanthropist with a soft spot for indigent children and senior citizens, Lim 
makes conscious effort to reach out to the less privileged. He has long been organiz-
ing and funding outreach projects in partnership with other agencies. 

Lim is married to Nancy Tan. They are blessed with five children. He loves to play 
golf and cook for his family during his free time.

As the PAGCOR’s President and COO, he is also the Chairman of the agency’s 
Nomination and Remuneration and Gender and Development Focal Point System 
Executive Committees. He is likewise a member of PAGCOR’s Governance and Exec-
utive Committees. 

Andrea d. domingo, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
 

Chairman and CEO Andrea D. Domingo was born on November 30, 1949. Be-
fore joining PAGCOR, she was with several private and government organizations 
including the Bureau of Immigration where she served as Commissioner (1989-
1992 and 2001-2004) and the Philippine Reclamation Authority where she was 
appointed as General Manager and Chief Executive Officer (2007-2010). She like-
wise served as the Representative of Pampanga’s 3rd District from 1992 to 1995. 

Domingo earned her Journalism degree (Minor in Communication Research) 
from the University of the Philippines (UP) – Diliman in 1969. 

Outside PAGCOR, she is a doting wife, grandmother and mother to her three 
accomplished children -- Rolando Enrique, an Ophthalmologist who is also an As-
sociate Professor at the UP College of Medicine; Karl, an entrepreneur and Pam-
panga Board Member; and Karen, an Immigration Officer. 

A painter and a certified dance enthusiast, Domingo launched solo art exhib-
its and had competed in several Latin dancesports abroad. 

As Chairman and CEO, she is also the Chairman of PAGCOR’s Governance and 
Executive Committees. 

The Board of Directors, executives and employees of PAGCOR abide by the principles and best practices of sound Cor-
porate Governance which serve as guide in making decisions, developing strategy, ensuring integrity, transparency, and 
efficiency in operations, and fulfilling PAGCOR’s role as a reliable partner of the government in nation-building.  PAGCOR’s 
commitment to the highest standards of Corporate Governance is its driving force in continuously improving the quality 
of everyday operations. 

Responsibilities of the board

A. board Composition

PAGCOR is governed, directed, controlled and managed by a five-member Board of Directors with no Ex-Officio 
members. The Board of Directors is primarily responsible for the governance of PAGCOR and for providing policy direc-
tions, monitoring and overseeing management actions, as articulated in its Charter and other relevant legislation, rules 
and regulations.

The following members of the Board were appointed by the President of the Republic of the Philippines and have the 
qualifications and none of the disqualifications provided for under the Charter and other relevant laws:

PLANS AND PROGRAMS   |

 2017PAGCOR Corporate Governance Report
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gabriel s. Claudio,
director

Director Gabriel S. Claudio was 
born on October 21, 1954. He earned 
his Communication Arts degree from 
the Ateneo de Manila University in 
1975. 

After graduation, he joined gov-
ernment service as a Senior Executive 
Assistant at the Ministry of Local Gov-
ernment (now Department of Local 
and Interior Government). From 1980 
to 1986, he served as Chief of Staff at 
the Office of the Deputy Prime Minis-
ter and became Undersecretary/Pres-
idential Assistant for Political Affairs 
from 1992 to 1998.

Years	later,	he	became	a	Cabinet	
Member and served as a Political Ad-
viser/Presidential Legislative Adviser 
and Chief of Presidential Legislative Li-
aison Office under the administration 
of former Pres. Gloria Macapagal-Ar-
royo from 2001 to 2009.

He likewise served the govern-
ment in various capacities as Board 
Member of the Philippine Charity 
Sweepstakes Office (PCSO) from 2008 
to 2009; Board Member of the De-
velopment Bank of the Philippines 
in 2010 and Chairman of the Metro-
politan Waterworks Services System 
(MWSS) also in 2010. 

As PAGCOR Director, he is also the 
Chairman of the agency’s Audit and 
Risk Management Committee; and a 
member of Nomination and Remu-
neration and Executive Committees. 

Carmen n. Pedrosa,
director

Director Carmen N. Pedrosa was 
born on July 17, 1941. 

She earned her Bachelor of Arts 
degree in Philosophy in 1965 from the 
Assumption Convent School. In 1963, 
she studied Journalism in Thomson 
Reuters. Later in the same year, she 
studied Japanese History and English 
Literature at the Sacred Heart Interna-
tional in Tokyo. 

Director Pedrosa is a celebrated 
newspaper columnist and contin-
ues to write for Philippine Star up to 
the present.  Her career in Journalism 
spans way back in 1958 as a Reporter 
in Manila Chronicle. After joining Ma-
nila Chronicle, she made a mark as a 
writer, editor and columnist. 

She was a political exile in Lon-
don from 1971 to 1987. During those 
times, Pedrosa became the Publisher 
and Editor of a London-based news-
paper for Filipinos called Pahayagan.  
She also wrote for various publica-
tions	 in	 Riyadh,	 New	 York,	 United	
Kingdom and some parts of Europe. 
Her political thoughts were published 
in three books, namely:  “Untold Sto-
ry of Imelda Marcos”, “Rise and Fall of 
Imelda Marcos”, and “The Verdict”. 

Because of her advocacies, Pedro-
sa got involved in various legislative 
affiliations such as the Constitutional 
Commission, Advocacy Commission 
for Charter Change, Coalition for Con-
stitutional Change, Migrant Action 
Group (London), among others. 

As PAGCOR Director, she is also 
a member of the agency’s Audit and 
Risk Management and Executive Com-
mittees. 

Reynaldo E. Concordia, 
director

Director Reynaldo E. Concordia 
was born on June 12, 1945. 

He earned his Bachelor of Sci-
ence in Commerce at Laguna College 
in 1969.  In 2004, he obtained a Certifi-
cate Program in Management from De 
La Salle University.  

Before his assumption as Direc-
tor, Concordia already served PAGCOR 
as a consultant in 2002. His expertise 
in construction management paved 
the way for his appointment as Special 
Projects-In-Charge of Entertainment 
City, which was then on the planning 
stage.  In 2010, he assumed the post of 
Senior Executive Liaison Manager for 
four months.

Having previously served PAG-
COR in various capacities for several 
years, his return to familiar ground 
is like a homecoming. Prior to his 
eight-year stint with PAGCOR, Con-
cordia handled key positions for sev-
eral prominent construction firms.  He 
also served as consultant for various 
government agencies like the Depart-
ment of Agriculture and the National 
Irrigation Administration.

As a PAGCOR Director, he is also a 
member of the agency’s Governance, 
Audit and Risk Management, Nomina-
tion and Remuneration, and Executive 
Committees. 
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b. schedule of board Meetings

To properly discharge its responsibilities, the Board is scheduled to meet at least twice every month.  For 
the year 2017, the Board had 43 regular meetings as follows:

January 4, 12, 18 and 25 July 12, 20 and 25

February 1, 15, 22 and 24 August 8, 16, 24 and 30

March 1, 8, 16, 22, 24 and 29 September 6, and 12

April 5, 19 and 26 October 11, 18 and 24

May 3, 24, 26 and 31 November 8, 22 and 28

June 9, 13, 16 and 28 December 4, 6 and 13

As a matter of policy, the PAGCOR Board must be able to meet the following conditions for good gover-
nance:

a. The Board of Directors shall meet on at least 75% of their scheduled meetings;
b. Each of the Directors must have attended at least 90% of all the Board and Board Committee meetings 
    held during the year; and
c. The Corporate Secretary is mandated to comply with the policy that Board papers for Board of
    Directors’  meetings are provided to the members of the Board at least three working days in advance.
 - The Corporate Secretary issues a notice of Board meeting to all concerned at least three days prior to the 
    Board meeting.

C. Role of the board on Corporate strategy

Section 4 of the PAGCOR Manual on Corporate Governance provides, among others, that the Board shall 
determine PAGCOR’s purpose and value, as well as adopt strategies and policies, including risk management 
policies and programs; and shall monitor and evaluate on a regular basis the implementation of corporate 
strategies and policies, business plans and operating budgets, as well as Management’s over-all performance 
to ensure optimum results.

In 2013, four members of the Board of Directors, together with key officers, attended a Performance 
Governance System workshop to draw up PAGCOR’s corporate strategies. The output of said workshop was 
PAGCOR’s Strategy Map and Scorecard which was refined and subsequently agreed upon with Governance 
Commission for GOCCs (GCG) for approval during the Performance Agreement Negotiation. 

Prior to each Performance Agreement Negotiation with GCG for the strategies and targets covering the 
succeeding year, the Chairman and CEO and concerned senior management officials review the vision, mis-
sion, strategies and specific targets that will be presented for discussion and agreement with GCG.  Likewise, 
quarterly performance monitoring reports are submitted to the Chairman and CEO for review and approval 
prior to submission to the GCG.

In 2017, regular reviews on the achievement of plans, strategies, and operational targets were done by 
the Board with the heads of casino branches and departments during the Executive Committee meetings 
held at least twice every month. A Strategic Planning Workshop was also held to assess financial projections, 
and strategic initiatives (plans and programs) of casino branches and departments to ensure alignment with 
Management’s objectives and direction.

d. Code of Conduct

PAGCOR is committed to the highest standards of ethical business conduct in its dealings with employ-
ees, customers, communities, suppliers, and others.  The PAGCOR Code of Conduct has established a busi-
ness ethics and compliance program to assist company leaders, employees and others in recognizing, un-
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derstanding and attending to the ethical dimensions of jobs and tasks, and in appropriately resolving issues 
affecting such activities.

The PAGCOR Code of Conduct applies to PAGCOR’s Board of Directors, officers, and employees, whether 
regular, contractual, casual or probationary, as well as learners, apprentices and trainees in all its corporate 
offices, casino branches, field offices, arcades and satellites.  However, employees of concessionaires, contrac-
tors and agencies doing business with the Company are excluded from the coverage of these rules.

PAGCOR has adopted its Code of Conduct to define the core values, standards of professional responsi-
bility and expectations for the ethical conduct of its people; promote honesty and fair dealing; promote com-
pliance with applicable laws, rules and regulations; encourage prompt reporting of violations of the Code; 
deter wrongdoing and create accountability for adherence to the Code.

E. Responsibility for Implementation

The following are responsible for overseeing the implementation of the Revised Rules in Administrative 
Cases (RRACs) in organizational units of PAGCOR:

Branch employees
 branch Infraction Committee (bIC)
 branch Management Panel (bMP)

Corporate employees
 Human Resource and development department (HRdd)
 Corporate Hearing Panel (CHP)

Cases involving sexual misconduct and harassment are handled by the Committee on Decorum and 
Ethics (CODE) while cases involving Officers or those referred by the Chairman/President/Department/ BMP/ 
CHP due to considerations stated in RRACs are investigated by the Corporate Investigation Unit (CIU).

Resolutions/recommendations of the CHP, CODE, CIU and BMP for cases involving Corporate and branch 
personnel are elevated to the Adjudication Committee (AC) for review.

F. board Committees’ Accomplishment Reports

 о Nomination and Remunerations

Created on January 16, 2013, the Nomination and Remunerations Committee (NRC) was given the 
primary functions and responsibilities of installing and maintaining a process to ensure that Officers 
to be nominated or appointed shall have the qualifications and none of the disqualifications mandat-
ed under the law, rules and regulations. 

The NRC held a total of 18 meetings in 2017 during which a total of 117 recommendations for hir-
ing/promotion/shifting were discussed.  Out of the 117 recommendations, 91 items were approved; 
14 new officers were hired; 4 were deferred and approved; and 8 were deferred. In 2017, the NRC was 
composed of the following: 

 Chairman : Alfredo C. Lim, President & COO 
 Members : Gabriel S. Claudio, Director 
   Reynaldo E. Concordia, Director
   Edwin S. Bermudez, SVP
   Arthel B. Caronongan, COS 

   Heads of the following Departments/Group: 
   o Accounting 
   o Human Resource & Development 
   o Legal Services
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 о Audit and Risk Management 

On January 16, 2013, the PAGCOR Board of Directors approved the creation the Audit and Risk 
Management Committee (ARMC) to perform the following: 

  a)  Oversight risk management functions, which include processing reports from concerned  
       brances, departments, and Satellite Operations Groups (SOGs) that contain information on  
       risk exposures and risk management activities;

  b)  Develop Risk Management Policy of PAGCOR to ensure that risk management process and
        compliance are embedded and implemented throughout the operations of PAGCOR; and,
  c)  Provide quarterly reports and update the Board on key risk management issues.

As of December 31, 2017, the Committee was composed of :

 Chairman : Director Gabriel S. Claudio
 Members : Director Carmen N. Pedrosa
   Director Reynaldo E. Concordia

                         Heads of the following departments: 
   o Accounting 
   o Auxiliary Services
   o Corporate Communications
   o Compliance Monitoring and Enforcement
   o Corporate and Legal Services
   o Corporate Planning
   o Finance and Treasury
   o Gaming
   o Gaming Licensing and Development
   o General Services and Engineering
   o Human Resource and Development
   o Information Technology
   o Internal Audit
   o Marketing
   o Security
   o Slot Machine

For better appreciation and uniform implementation of the risk management framework devel-
oped by the Committee, the PAGCOR Risk Management Policy and Procedures Manual was drafted 
by the Committee and was subsequently approved by the PAGCOR Board on October 2, 2013 (First 
Edition) and February 3, 2015 (Second Edition).  

The manual sets out the standards on risk management as prescribed in DBM CL No. 2008-8, to 
wit: “the Philippine Government mandates the establishment of standards on risk management in 
public service organizations”.  It aims to provide knowledge and understanding of the key points of 
risk management and to present a structured approach to assist risk owners in identifying, analyzing, 
measuring, treating and reporting risks.

The identification, analysis and treatment of risks are documented in the Risk Registers submitted 
by the branches, departments and Satellite Operations Groups which are periodically submitted to 
ARMC.  

For 2017, the Committee accomplished the following: 

 о Held four meetings on the following dates:  March 31, June 5, June 20, and December 
14, 2017.
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 о Discussed and resolved audit findings for the enhancement/improvement of PAGCOR’s 
processes and control measures.

 о Conducted risk assessment and evaluation of the 2016 Risk Registers on March 31, 
2017. The minutes of the meeting containing the evaluation of said Risk Registers were 
concurred by the Board of Directors. 

 о Evaluated the adequacy of the risk management process and effectiveness of control 
measures periodically or whenever deemed necessary, an effort to continuously im-
prove the risk management framework of PAGCOR.

 о Reported updates on Customer Feedback.

 о Executive Committee

The Executive Committee is composed of the Board of Directors and the heads of the Corporate 
departments,	casino	branches,	and	satellite	operations	groups.	The	EXCOM	meets	regularly	at	least	
twice a month and serves as the venue for the regular reporting and performance reviews of the 
branches, SOGs, and satellite casinos.  Other matters relevant to the Corporation are likewise taken up 
and	discussed	during	the	meetings	as	may	be	directed	by	the	Chairman	and	CEO.		The	EXCOM	had	a	
total of 36 meetings in 2017.

 о Governance Committee

The Governance Committee was created on January 16, 2013 by virtue of an approval by the 
Board of Directors.  It was officially constituted during the Governance Committee meeting held on 
May 29, 2013. 

 ❚ Board Attendance 2017

January to December 2017

Name Position Date of 
Appointment

No. of 
Meetings Held 

in 2017

No. of 
Meetings 
Attended

%

Andrea D. Domingo Chairman & CEO July 1, 2016 43 43 100%

Alfredo C. Lim President & COO July 1, 2016 43 43 100%

Carmen N. Pedrosa Director July 1, 2016 43 42 97.7%

Reynaldo E. Concordia Director July 1, 2016 43 43 100%

Gabriel S. Claudio Director July 1, 2016 43 43 100%

 ❚ Access to Information (Board materials)

The Corporate Secretary is mandated to comply with the policy that Board papers for Board of 
Directors’ meetings are provided to the members of the Board at least three working days in advance 
of the Board meeting.

 ❚  Internal Audit

PAGCOR has a well-established and independent Internal Audit Department, headed by As-
sistant Vice President Evelyn M. Salvador. It is tasked to perform the Internal Audit functions of the 
Company and provide reasonable assurance to the Board, Management and shareholders that key 
organizational and procedural controls are appropriate, adequate, effective, and complied with. 
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The Internal Audit Department of PAGCOR conducts the following activities to ensure integrity in 
all aspects:

a. Regular audit of disbursements; 
b. Periodic review of PAGCOR’s financial statements;
c. Evaluation of key processes performed by sections/units/divisions/departments and 

branches;
d. Regular audit of financial reports of the licensees/proponents and financial transactions of 

proponents with seceded operations;
e. Evaluation of the extent of compliance by the licensees/proponents/investors with their 

contractual obligations with PAGCOR; and
f. Evaluation of general and/or application controls of information systems as well as the 

affected manual processes and procedures, if necessary.

 ❚  Risk Management System

The Risk Management System of PAGCOR is embodied in its Risk Management Policy and Pro-
cedures Manual which is posted in the PAGCOR Website. The manual sets out the standards on risk 
management as prescribed in DBM CL No. 2008-8, to wit: “The Philippine Government mandates the 
establishment of standards on risk management in public service organizations”.

It also aims to provide knowledge and understanding of the key points of risk management 
and presents a structured approach to assist risk owners in identifying, analyzing, measuring, treat-
ing and reporting risks.

 ❚  PAGCOR Risk Management Policy

The Risk Management Policy outlines the approach to the Risk Management Process by 
which PAGCOR identifies, assesses and manages risk for the Corporation to succeed in achieving 
planned objectives. 

It is PAGCOR’s policy that all substantive activities, processes, or programs be subjected to 
risk assessment leading to decision about residual risk. 

The Risk Management Policy is kept under review by the Risk Manager and Branch/Depart-
ment Risk Leads and Risk Owners and updated periodically in the light of operational experience.

 ❚  Board Appraisal System

The PAGCOR Board adheres to the criteria, procedures, and requirements of the Performance 
Evaluation for Directors (PED) of the Governance Commission for GOCCs (GCG).  In 2017, PAGCOR 
submitted the Directors’ attendance in formation and complied with the rest of the evaluation re-
quirements including the completion of the Self and Peer Assessment Forms.

 ❚ Corporate Secretary

The Corporate Secretary serves as an adviser to the Board Members on their responsibilities 
and obligations; oversees the adequate flow of information to the Board prior to meetings; and 
ensures fulfilment of disclosure requirements to regulatory bodies. Board members have separate 
and independent access to the Corporate Secretary. 

In 2017, Atty. Juanito L. Sañosa, Jr. performed the functions of the PAGCOR Corporate Secre-
tary and concurrent Compliance Officer.
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disclosure and Transparency

  

Audited Annual Financial Reports

Date Published Year	of	the	Report Date of Receipt from COA

Jan. 14, 2015 2013 Annual Audit Report December 15, 2014

Oct. 19, 2015 2014 Annual Audit Report September 16, 2015

Aug. 22, 2016 2015 Annual Audit Report July 4, 2016

Jul. 26, 2017 2016 Annual Audit Report July 3, 2017

Annual Reports

Year	of	the	Report Date Published in www.pagcor.ph

2016 September 29, 2017

2015 January 6, 2017

2014 December 2, 2015

2013 February 13, 2015

2012 November 28, 2013

2011 July 10, 2013
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 ❚ Corporate objectives
  •  2017 Strategy Map
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MISSION
To create an environment that 

propels the development of the 
Philippine gaming and 
entertainment industry

To be a responsible and 
responsive partner of the 

Philippine government in its 
nation-building program

To establish and enforce a 
regulatory framework that 

preserves the integrity of the 
Philippine gaming industry

CORE VALUES
Integrity

Firm adherence to the highest 
ethical and pro�esional 

standards

Accountability
Open and transparent business 

dealings with stakeholders

Social Responsibility
Giving back for nation-building

Customer Service Excellence
Upholding the highest global 
standards in Customer service 
and satisfying the needs of our 

customers at all times

Team Work
Each member contributes one’s 

talents and skills to achieve a 
common goal.

STRATEGY MAP
VISION

By 2020 PAGCOR as the prime mover will make the Philippines the 
top gaming and entertainment destination in the ASEAN region, 

generating revenues that fund nation-building programs.
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Economic Relevance Governance

Increase contribution
to national government 

co�ers and 
nation-building e�orts

Increase Revenue of PAGCOR 

Improve Products, Services and Operational E�ciency

Ensure a Conducive Business Environment Within A 
Level Playing Field

Enhance Employee Competency Motivation

Increase in gross 
gaming revenue of the 

industry
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   • 2017 Performance Scorecard 

 ❚ Financial performance indicators
   - (See Financial Highlights and COA Audited Financial Statements from pages 76 to 79)

 ❚ Non- Financial performance indicators
  - (See Winning Moments from pages 14 to 17)

COMPONENT 
2017 Target 

 (based on GCG-modified targets) 2017 Actual 
 Objective/ Measure Formula Weight 

(GCG-modified) 

Rating/  
Score 

 

S
O

C
IA

L 
IM

P
A

C
T
 

SO 1 Increase Contribution to National Government Coffers and Nation Building Efforts 

SM 1 

Total contributions to national government 
(including mandatory contributions, dividends, 
subsidies and donations – under MOOE) in billion 
pesos 

Absolute 
Amount 

P45 Billion= 25% 
P40 Billion= 20% 
P35 Billion= 15% 
P30 Billion= 10% 
P20 Billion= 5% 
Below P20 Billion= 
0% 

20% P45 Billion P42.542 Billion 

SO 2 Increase GGR of the Industry 

SM 2 Total industry GGR (PAGCOR + Licensee GGR) 
Absolute 
Amount 

P170 Billion= 25%  
P160 Billion= 20%  
P155 Billion= 15% 
P150 Billion= 10% 
P149 to P130 
Billion= 5% 
Below P130 
Billion= 0% 

25% P170 Billion 
 

P170.396 Billion 
 

 Sub-Total  50% 45%   

FI
N

A
N

C
IA

L 

SO 3 Increase revenue of PAGCOR 

SM 3 Net Operating Income (NOI)  Margin 
NOI/Gross 
Revenue 

75%=10% 
70%=5% 
63%=2% 
less than 
63%=0% 

10% 75% 77% 

 Sub-Total  10% 10%   

S
T
A

K
E
H

O
LD

E
R
S 

SO 4  Ensure a Conducive Business Environment within a Level Playing Field 

SM 4 
Total amount increase in licensing investment 
commitment (in US $) 

Absolute 
Amount 

10% 10% $500 million $1.1 Billion 

SM 5 
Compliance of investors to the regulatory 
framework (Note: Rollout and binding in 2016; 
outcome-based scorecard) 

Absolute 
Amount 

5% 
 
 

5% 

 
5% 

 
 

5% 

Implementation of Clark 
Licensee scorecard  
 
 
Development of a scorecard 
for Poro Point and Eastbay 

EC and Clark Licensee 
Scorecards posted in the 
Transparency Seal Section of 
the PAGCOR website. 
Submitted to GCG. 

 Sub-Total  20% 20%   

IN
T
E
R
N

A
L 

P
R

O
C
E
S
S SO 5 Improve Products, Services and Operation Efficiency 

SM 6 Marketing Expense to Win Ratio 
Marketing 

Expense/  Total 
Winnings 

Greater than 
10%=0% 
6% to 10% = 
weighted 
Less than 
6%=0% 

10% 10% 
 

6.39% 
 

 Sub-Total  10% 10%   
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W
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SO 6 Enhance Employee Competency and Motivation 

SM 7 Develop Competency Framework 

  
2.5% 

 
 

2.5% 

 
 

2.5% 
 
 

2.5% 
 

Submission of 50% Position 
Profiles Establishing 
Competency Baseline 
 
Procurement of Consultant 
for the Balance of Position 
Profiles and Assessment 

50% Position Profiles 
submitted  
 
 
HRDD completed the balance 
(50%) of Position Profiles. 

SM 8 
ISO 9001 Certification (Note: ISO-certified by 
2016) 

 
5% 5% Readiness for ISO 9001:2015 ISO 9001:2015 Certified 

 Sub-Total  10% 10%   
  TOTAL  100% 95%   
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 ❚ Whistle blowing policy

While a more comprehensive PAGCOR Whistle Blowing Policy is under review, the Company 
follows the Whistle blower Protection Policy Stated in Article 217 of the Revised Rules on Admin-
istrative Cases.

Article 217: PAGCOR upholds public accountability and respects that it has a responsibility 
for the stewardship of its assets and resources. The Company’s system of internal controls and 
operating procedures are intended to detect, prevent or deter unethical or illegal activities, in-
cluding questionable accounting or auditing matters. Towards this end, PAGCOR has established 
this Whistleblower Protection Policy (the “Policy”) to assist in the reporting of irregularities and 
corrupt practices. 

It is the Company’s policy to support and encourage its employees to report and disclose 
unethical or illegal activities, and to fully investigate such reports and disclosures.  Further, it is 
PAGCOR’s policy to protect, from any adverse employment action or discrimination of any kind, 
any employee who reports, discloses or investigates unethical or illegal conduct.   For purposes of 
this Policy, “adverse employment action” includes action to discharge, demote, suspend, threaten, 
interfere, harass, coerce, retaliate or in any other manner discriminate against an employee. 

This Policy does not apply to or change the Company’s policies and procedures for indi-
vidual employee grievances or complaints relating to job performance, terms and conditions of 
employment which will continue to be administered by the Human Resource and Development 
Department.

 ❚ Hotline 8888

Hotline 8888 is the Citizens’ Complaint Hotline number institutionalized on June 30, 2016 
under Executive Order (EO) No. 6 Series 2016. In compliance with the EO, PAGCOR Chairman and 
CEO Andrea Domingo approved on November 3, 2017 the designation of the Permanent Focal 
Person (PFP)-Vice President of Human Resource and Development Department, Alternate Fo-
cal Person (AFP)-Vice President of Corporate Social Responsibility Group and Technical Officers 
(TO)-Senior Managers of Information Technology and Corporate Communications Departments.

The General Managers/Branch Managers/Vice Presidents/Assistant Vice Presidents are also 
designated as focal persons of their respective branches/departments and shall be responsible in 
ensuring that complaints received through Hotline 8888 or sent by PFP or AFP concerning their 
respective areas of jurisdictions are addressed within the required time.

In December 2017, PAGCOR’s core team attended orientation and trainings to learn about 
the Government’s Hotline 8888 and their respective roles and responsibilities.   

  
 ❚ Data Privacy 

The PAGCOR’s Human Resource and Development Department (HRDD) registered the  Data 
Privacy Officer (DPO) to the National Privacy Commission (NPC) in 2017. It conducted initial meet-
ings with various concerned departments regarding compliance and sought board approval of 
the formation of a committee for Data Privacy. 

HRDD also drafted the PAGCOR Data Privacy Policy as basis for the following once approved: 
•	 Conducting Privacy Impact Assessment
•	 Creating Privacy Manual 
•	 Implementing Privacy and Data Protection measures 
•	 Breach reporting procedures 

 ❚ Freedom of Information 
In compliance with  Executive Order No. 2, Operationalizing in the Executive Branch the 

People’s Constitutional Right to Information and the State Policies to Full Public Disclosure and 
Transparency in the Public Service, PAGCOR submitted its Freedom of Information Manual to the 
Presidential Communications Operations Office.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT   |
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The Freedom of Information Committee was created and PAGCOR delegates attended the 
Freedom of Information Summit held in December 2017.

 ❚ Training and/or continuing education programme attended by each director/commissioner
On December 8, 2016, all five members of the Board of Directors, along with key members of 

the PAGCOR management, attended the Corporate Governance Orientation Program for GOCCs 
conducted by the Institute of Corporate Directors (ICD).

 ❚ Statement of full compliance with the Code of Corporate Governance
The Certificate of Full Compliance with the Code of Corporate Governance was submitted to 

the Governance Commission for GOCCs on May 20, 2016. It is also posted in the Corporate Gover-
nance Section of the PAGCOR Website.

Corporate social Responsibility

A. Customers’ Welfare

Every Director and Officer accepts the position with full awareness that he or she assumes certain re-
sponsibilities not only to PAGCOR but also with its different constituencies or stakeholders. They expect the 
Corporation to be run in a prudent manner with due regard to the interests of all stakeholders. 

Consequently, members of the Board and Officers shall deal fairly with PAGCOR’s employees, customers, 
suppliers and other stakeholders. No member of the Board or Officer may take unfair advantage of PAGCOR’s 
employees, customers, suppliers, and other stakeholders through manipulation, concealment, abuse of con-
fidential or privileged information, misrepresentation of material facts, or any other unfair-dealing practices. 

Integrity and honesty in dealings with customers is necessary for a successful and sustained business 
relationship. PAGCOR should operate a highly effective and efficient organization, focused on meeting cus-
tomer objectives with the aim of providing services which give fair value and consistent quality, reliability 
and safety in return for the price paid for the same.  

PAGCOR should implement policies of continuous improvement for both processes and the skills of the 
staff in order to ensure that it continues to add value to customers.

b. Interaction with the Communities

PAGCOR, as an integral part of the National Government, is mandated to be socially responsible, and 
shall therefore act and operate as a good corporate citizen.  The Governing Board shall recognize and perform 
the obligations PAGCOR has towards the National Government, together with the employees, suppliers, cus-
tomers and other stakeholders, and the communities in which it operates.

PAGCOR’s Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) programs are primarily anchored on its mission as a part-
ner of the Philippine government in nation-building.

(See Corporate Social Responsibility section from pages 31 to 49) 

C. Environmentally-Friendly value Chain

Policies
PAGCOR aims to ensure a safe and healthy working environment for all its employees, outside 

contractors and visitors, as well as comply with all relevant local legislation or regulations and best 
practice guidelines recommended by national and safety authorities.  

PAGCOR’s environmental responsibility starts with the creation of an Environmental Action Plan 
that adopts policies, standards, compliance with environmental laws, regulations and practices to 
make all PAGCOR Casino Filipino branches, Satellite Operations Groups and Corporate offices fit to be 
a friendly workplace within a conducive working environment. 
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Sustainability focuses on the implementation of the Environmental Action Plan in all PAGCOR sites 
which aim to reduce carbon footprints through energy conservation, responsible use of water and 
recycling of materials among others. The Action Plan therefore addresses PAGCOR’s operations and 
thrusts through environmental impact on climate change, protection of future generations and sav-
ing mother earth.

Activities
 Í Environmental Compliance

 PAGCOR has 14 designated Pollution Control Officers (PCO) assigned in various sites.  PCOs are 
responsible for the implementation of PAGCOR’s Environmental Action Plan.  Aside from their profes-
sional qualifications, they have completed the required 40 hours of comprehensive training/seminars 
on environmental issues conducted by DENR-Environmental Management Bureau (EMB), NCR. All 14 
PCOs are accredited by DENR-EMB. 

 PAGCOR has designated PCO Managing Heads-in-charge in each PAGCOR site.  They were re-
quired to complete 8 hours of training conducted by DENR-EMB on environmental laws.

PAGCOR also complies with the submission of Self-Monitoring Reports to the DENR-EMB.
All PAGCOR sites are compliant with PD 1586, RA 8749, RA 9276, and RA 6969.

 Í Environment Friendly Programs/Compliance with Environmental Action Plan
1. Reduction in electricity and energy utilization through the implementation of the Energy 

Conservation Program by adopting Department of Energy’s “Energy Management Program”
1.1  Use of energy efficient lighting in administrative buildings, gaming areas, conces-

sions, and parking areas,
1.2  Promotion of staff awareness on energy savings by encouraging employees to 

switch off lighting, air conditioning, computers, printers and other office electrical 
equipment when not in use, and

1.3  Implementation of Electro-Mechanical Audit in all PAGCOR sites is being undertak-
en by the Engineering Unit, not only to evaluate the performance and check the 
maintenance of equipment, but more importantly, to aid the PAGCOR sites in their 
energy conservation efforts/programs.

2. Reduction in Fuel Consumption
2.1  Introduction of more fuel-efficient vehicles, advanced electric and hybrid vehicles 

with more powerful and reliable batteries, and
2.2  Conduct of regular inspection of the performance of all vehicles and stand-by gen-

erator sets.

3. Reduction of Water Consumption through the Implementation of Water Management Pro-
gram

3.1  Installation of environmental and efficient fixtures,
3.2  Implementation of water recycling and harvesting of rain water, and
3.3  Continuous dissemination of information on saving water.

4. Reduction of Paper Use
4.1  Adoption of measures to economize the use of paper,
4.2  Set up of Portal and wide use of e-mail to facilitate communication among em-

ployees/officers in the department to reduce the need for hard copy circulation, 
and

4.3  Use of computerized office equipment, e.g. high-speed scanners, digital senders 
and fax servers to improve office efficiency and minimize paper consumption.

5. Introduction of Green Products
5.1  Promotion of use of green products, e.g. recycled photocopying paper, alkaline 
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batteries, energy saving light bulbs and refillable ball pens, and
5.2  Purchase of environmentally preferable products and services.

6. On Use of Preventive Maintenance Chemicals
6.1  Reduction of usage of maintenance products (chemicals, lubricants, fuel, aerosol, re-

frigerant),
6.2  Conduct of regular site inspection and accurate inventory to ensure proper han-

dling of chemical and hazardous waste, and
6.3  Secure necessary permits/licensing in handling/purchasing of controlled and regulat-

ed chemicals.

7. Reduction of Solid and Hazardous Waste Materials
7.1  Implementation of Ecological Waste Management Plan and Hazardous Waste Manage-

ment Program,
7.2  Use of Garbage Disposal Area (GDA) or Materials Recovery Facility (MRF) and haz-

ardous waste storage within the premises, and
7.3  Provision of information on policies and good practices on waste recycling to em-

ployees.

8. Reduction of Greenhouse Gas Emission (GHG)
8.1  Regular monitoring of the GHG emissions of PAGCOR vehicles and standby gener-

ator set by conducting regular emission test, and
8.2  Publication of results of GHG emissions for all vehicles and standby generator set.

9. Others – Reduction of environmental impact of PAGCOR activities
9.1  Collection/hauling and disposal of hazardous waste through accredited DENR 3rd 

party environmental service provider,
9.2  Suppliers are encouraged to gradually introduce more environmental friendly pro-

duction methods or eco-design for their products,
9.3  Conduct of regular training and educational orientation regarding PAGCOR Envi-

ronmental Policy and Environmental Management System (EMS), 
9.4  Development of a transportation policy and design to minimize empty return 

loads and actively promote the use of new generation engines,
9.5  Strengthening of PAGCOR’s efforts toward environmental and sustainable devel-

opment projects and partnership that contribute to development of new technol-
ogies, education and the preservation of biodiversity,

9.6  Procurement  of Consultancy Services for the Design and Project Management 
of Office Building and Warehouse Facility including site development of PAGCOR 
Complex,

9.7  Conversion of old SM casings into Trash Bins,
9.8  Set up a records keeping storage room at Imus Complex for Records Keeping Com-

mittee, and
9.9  Procurement of one-year service agreement for the repairs and maintenance of 

copiers.

d. Contact details for complaints of other stakeholders

PAGCOR has clear and strong lines of communication that allow the agency to respond quickly and effi-
ciently to customer requirements and public needs to ensure consistent quality service.  

Hence, PAGCOR instituted a Customer Feedback Management System as approved by the Board of Di-
rectors on December 15, 2015. While there were existing processes in handling feedback per department or 
branch, there was a need to document and standardize these systems to ensure continual improvement in 
meeting requirements of PAGCOR customers.  This feedback mechanism covers appropriate documentation 
of all feedback, whether complaint, suggestion, commendation or request for assistance, to the reporting, 
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monitoring and discharge of necessary actions and resolutions.
E. Employee Welfare and development

Welfare
 Í Policies/Programs

 о  PAGCOR Healthcare Plan 
The PAGCOR Healthcare Plan is a self-administered healthcare management program under 

the Auxiliary Services Department. It provides health services; primary, secondary and tertiary 
level, to all regular employees and their qualified dependents chargeable against their annual 
medical allocation on top of PhilHealth.  

The Plan covers healthcare availments of beneficiaries from an accredited pool of healthcare 
service providers.  However, beneficiaries may also avail services from an unaccredited service pro-
vider through reimbursement, charged according to the policies and schedule of fees of the Plan.  
The fiscal year starts every July 01 of each year and ends on June 30 of the succeeding year.  The 
benefits of the Plan are as follows: emergency room availments; outpatient availments (including 
specialty consultations, diagnostic procedures, physical therapy, chemotherapy, psychiatric eval-
uation and hemodialysis); hospitalization availments (including room and board, ICU admissions, 
medicines, professional fees and laboratories); optical and dental availments; maternity subsidy; 
and other preventive benefits. 

The Plan does not cover the following availments: extra meals and use of extra beds, hiring 
of private nurses, malingering, infertility treatment and sexual dysfunction, drug addiction and/or 
alcoholism, cosmetic or plastic surgery, hospitalization primarily for diagnostic or general check-
ups, treatment of injuries/illness resulting from self-destruction/suicide and/or attributable to 
patient’s own gross negligence, misconduct and reckless imprudence and treatment of injuries/
illnesses arising from direct or indirect participation in the commission of crime, whether consum-
mated or not, violation of law or ordinance, vicious or immoral habits, and unnecessary exposure 
to imminent danger or hazards to health.  

 о  PAGCOR Code of Conduct Section 6.5.10 “Security, Safety, Health, and Environment”
Humane, safe, and healthful conditions of work are indispensable to the well-being of ev-

eryone. The Company endeavors to comply with applicable security, safety and health regulations 
and appropriate practices. Employees should immediately notify the supervisor or manager of 
any work hazard, accident, injuries and unsafe equipment, practices and conditions.  

Security management is everyone’s concern. Protective services, precautions and counter-
measures must address the criticality, vulnerability and probability of any hazard, risk or threat. 
Accordingly, an integrated approach towards the identification, prevention and control of losses 
is crucial.  Disaster preparedness, as well as timely, adequate and effective response to any emer-
gency, whether natural or man-made, requires cooperative efforts among all sectors.  

Compliance with environmental laws, standards and policies is integral to the greening of 
business. Solid waste management, anti-smoking drive, among others, can make the workplace a 
better place to live in. 

 
 о Morale, Welfare and Recreation (MWR) Program

The Company undertakes MWR programs to foster camaraderie, enhance morale, improve 
the quality of work life, promote physical fitness and provide wholesome recreation and enter-
tainment among employees. The MWR Program is a means to give value to the Company’s  great-
est asset, its employees.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT   |
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 Í Activities 

PAGCOR Healthcare Report. Details of the PAGCOR’s Healthcare Report 2017 can be viewed at 
the Corporate  Governance Section of the PAGCOR website at http://www.pagcor.ph/governance/
index-2017.ph

 
MWR Activities. Details of the PAGCOR’s MWR Activities 2017 can be viewed at the Corporate Gov-

ernance Section of the PAGCOR website at http://www.pagcor.ph/governance/ index-2017.ph

Safety and Security Programs. Details of the PAGCOR’s Safety and Security Programs 2017 can be 
viewed at the Corporate Governance Section of the PAGCOR website at http://www.pagcor.ph/gov-
ernance/ index-2017.ph

Training and Development

 Í Policies/Programs

PAGCOR provides continuous learning opportunities for its employees through trainings. Most 
in-house trainings are initiated by the Human Resource and Development Department (HRDD) while 
some are organized by other departments for the advancement of their personnel.  

Here are some of the training programs regularly conducted by PAGCOR:

PROGRAM TITLE TARGET EMPLOYEES FREQUENCY OF 
CONDUCT

Values Enrichment Program (VEP) All regular and contractual employees Quarterly

Financial Wellness Program (FWP) All regular and contractual employees Quarterly

First-Level Leaders’ Training Course 
(FLLTC)

Regular Rank-and-file Supervisory 
employees Monthly

Management Development 
Program (ELE) Regular PAGCOR Officers Annual

Officers’ Cross-Training Program 
(OCTP) Regular PAGCOR Officers Annual/Bi-annual

Strategic Management and 
Planning Regular PAGCOR Officers Quarterly

While most programs are being conducted in a traditional manner, the company is moving to-
wards blended learning and has already initiated non-traditional learning interventions with the help 
of available technology so that employees learn on a year-round basis.

 Í Activities

Details of PAGCOR’s Training and Development Programs for 2017 can be viewed at the Corporate 
Governance Section of the PAGCOR website at http://www.pagcor.ph/governance/
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Republic of the Philippines

COMMIssIOn On AudIT
Corporate government sector

Cluster 6 - social, Cultural, Trading, Promotional and Other services
Commonwealth Avenue, Quezon City

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
THE bOARd OF dIRECTORs
Philippine Amusement and Gaming Corporation
PAGCOR Corporate Office
New World Manila Bay Hotel
M.H. Del Pilar cor. Pedro Gil Streets
Malate, Manila

Qualified  Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of the Philippine Amusement and gaming Corporation (PAgCOR) which 
comprise the statement of financial position as of     December 31, 2017 and the statement of comprehensive income, 
statement of changes in equity, statement of cash flows for the year ended and notes to financial statements including a 
summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, except for the effects of the matter described in the Bases for Qualified Opinion section of our report, 
the accompanying  financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of PAGCOR as of De-
cember 31, 2017, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the Philip-
pine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS).

bases for Qualified Opinion

1. The continued differing interpretation of the clause “aggregate gross earnings” from its Franchise is not 
in accordance with the provision of Section 12, Presidential Decree (PD) No. 1869  and Section 26 of 
Republic Act (RA) No. 6847, otherwise known as “The Philippine Sports Commission (PSC) Act”,  thereby 
casting doubt on the accuracy and reliability of the year-end reported balance of the  liability account 
amounting to P22.844 billion. 

2. Accuracy, reliability and existence of the year-end account balance of Property, Plant and Equipment 
(PPE) totaling P1.997 billion was doubtful due to: a) discrepancies amounting to P23.926 million be-
tween the balance per books and the Annual Physical Inventory Report; and b) inclusion of unservice-
able items and those beyond economic repair amounting to P20.945 million which was not in conso-
nance with the provisions of Philippine Accounting Standard (PAS) No. 16.

3. PPE account was overstated due to: a) inclusion of assets totaling P127.307 million representing the 
cost of the condominium units acquired for the purpose of reselling the same to qualified officers and 
employees so as to provide them with decent and affordable housing facilities. The recognition thereof 
as PPE was not in accordance with the provisions of the International Accounting Standard (IAS) 16 on 
PPE and International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS) 5 - Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Dis-
continued Operations; and b) inclusion of semi-expendable items with acquisition cost below P15,000 
at the CF-Angeles, and CF-Olongapo amounting to P27.681 million and P7.067 million, respectively, 
contrary to Section 5.4 of COA Circular No. 2016-006. 

COA INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT   |
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We conducted our audit in accordance with Philippine Public Sector Standards on Auditing (PPSSAs).  Our  
responsibilities under those standards are further described in Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Fi-
nancial Statements section of our report.  We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical 
requirements that  are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the Philippines, and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and those Charged With Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 
with the PFRSs and for such internal control as Management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In preparing the financial 
statements, Management is responsible for assessing the PAgCOR’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless Management either 
intends to liquidate the PAgCOR  or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

These charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the PAgCOR’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

The objectives of our audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement,  whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with PPSAs will always detect a material mistatement, when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic de-
cisions of users taken on the basis of financial statements.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depended on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of mate-
rial misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to 
design audit procedures that were appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by Management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements.

Report on Supplementary Information Required Under BIR Revenue Regulation 15-2010

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements taken as a whole.  
The supplementary information on taxes and license fees paid or accrued during the taxable year described in Note 28 on 
the financial statements is presented for purposes of filing with the Bureau of Internal Revenue and is not a required part 
of the basic financial statements.  Such supplementary information is the responsibility of Management.  The  information 
has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in our audit of the basic financial statements.  In our opinion, the 
information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.

 COMMIssIOn On AudIT

 CynTHIA s.  vERgARA
 Supervising Auditor
 Audit Group B

 June 8, 2018
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2017 2016
 (As Restated) 

AssETs
Current Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 14,867,680,101 10,913,434,423 
Receivables 3,750,784,103 2,714,135,447 
Inventories 482,830,561 534,687,488 
Other Current Assets 320,828,813 298,356,362 

Total Current Assets 19,422,123,578 14,460,613,720 

non-Current Assets
Financial Assets 100,000,000 100,000,000 
Other Investments 43,166,380 43,170,380 
Receivables 52,075,609 52,215,880 
Investment Property 15,685,903,947 15,620,121,027 
Property, Plant and Equipment, net 1,997,322,925 2,687,094,111 
Intangible Assets 224,471,379 263,382,864 
Other Non-Current Assets 1,146,115,543 1,062,447,911 

Total non-Current Assets 19,249,055,783 19,828,432,173 

Total Assets 38,671,179,361 34,289,045,893 

LIAbILITIEs
Current Liabilities

Financial Liabilities  2,445,369,934 1,751,040,399 
Inter-Agency Payables 8,920,365,123 6,944,463,432 
Trust Liabilities 419,907,516 260,020,722 
Provisions 100,000,000 100,000,000 
Other Payables 3,057,229,042 1,837,190,801 

Total Current Liabilities 14,942,871,615 10,892,715,354 

non-Current Liabilities
Trust Liabilities 1,845,125,798 1,414,951,268 
Deferred Credits/Unearned Income 347,697,961 344,809,087 
Other Payables 5,708,614,836 8,162,804,733 

Total non-Current Liabilities 7,901,438,595 9,922,565,088 

Total Liabilities 22,844,310,210 20,815,280,442 

EQuITy
Retained Earnings/(Deficit) 15,755,438,399 13,402,334,699 
Stockholders’ Equity 71,430,752 71,430,752 

Total Equity 15,826,869,151 13,473,765,451 

Total Liabilities and Equity 38,671,179,361 34,289,045,893 
 

Statement of Financial Position
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Statement of Comprehensive Income

2017 2016 
(As Restated)

Income

Service and Business Income 59,892,849,075 55,065,781,918

Gains 250,303,138 88,245,325

Other Non-Operating Income 9,992,481 1,886,632

Total Income 60,153,144,694 55,155,913,875

Expenses
Personnel Services 7,732,224,515 7,588,986,866
Maintenance and Other Operating Expenses 7,661,094,483 7,823,066,310

Financial Expenses 32,555,425 71,395,174

Non-Cash Expenses 1,287,296,755 1,379,900,381

Total Expenses 16,713,171,178 16,863,348,731

Profit before Tax 43,439,973,516 38,292,565,144
Income Tax Expense 83,240,008 30,581,628
Profit After Tax 43,356,733,508 38,261,983,516
Financial Assistance/subsidy/Contribution 38,410,230,856 33,749,529,816
net Income/(Loss) 4,946,502,652 4,512,453,700

For the year Ended december 31, 2017
(With corresponding figures for 2016)

(In Philippine Peso)
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Statement of Changes in Equity

Retained Earnings/ 
(deficit) share Capital TOTAL

balance at January 1, 2016 10,155,929,507 71,430,752 10,227,360,259 

Adjustments:
Add/(Deduct):

Prior Period Errors (83,428,663)  0 (83,428,663)
Restated balance at January 1, 2016 10,072,500,844 71,430,752 10,143,931,596 

Changes in Equity for 2016
Add/(Deduct):

Comprehensive Income for the year 4,512,453,700 0 4,512,453,700 
Dividends (1,182,619,845) 0 (1,182,619,845)

balance at december 31, 2016 13,402,334,699 71,430,752 13,473,765,451 

Changes in Equity for 2017
Add/(Deduct):

Comprehensive Income for the year 4,946,502,652  0 4,946,502,652 
Dividends (2,593,398,952)  0 (2,593,398,952)        

balance at december 31, 2017 15,755,438,399 71,430,752 15,826,869,151 

For the year Ended december 31, 2017
(With corresponding figures for 2016)

(In Philippine Peso)
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Statement of Cash Flows

 2017  2016 
CAsH FLOWs FROM OPERATIng ACTIvITIEs

Cash Inflows

Cash received from Casino Customers  22,449,393,259  22,068,833,323 

Collection of Income/Revenue  36,325,129,560  31,771,001,927 

Collection of Receivables  229,380,882  132,609,923 

Other Receipts  260,404,302  809,522,395 

Total Cash Inflows  59,264,308,003  54,781,967,568 

Adjustments  431,618,894  174,531,325 

Adjusted Cash Inflows  59,695,926,897  54,956,498,893 

Cash Outflows

Payment of Expenses  (5,100,759,410)  (7,529,966,494)

Purchase of Inventories  (39,032,112)  (47,972,974)

Grant of Cash Advances  (730,172)  (556,006)

Prepayments  (74,336,486)  (73,426,903)

Refund of Deposits  (14,933,419)  (1,623,180)

Payments of Accounts Payable  (925,796,915)  (1,193,167,313)

Remittance of Personnel Benefit Contributions and Mandatory Deductions  (8,143,828,798)  (4,441,991,113)

Grant of Financial Assistance/Subsidy/Contribution  (35,685,437,529)  (34,602,432,679)

Release of Inter-Agency Fund Transfers  (172,536,000)  (13,307,413)

Other Disbursements  (84,427,432)  (101,681,310)

Total Cash Outflows  (50,241,818,273)  (48,006,125,385)

Adjustments  (178,859,646)  (83,370,280)

Adjusted Cash Outflows  (50,420,677,919)  (48,089,495,665)

net Cash Provided by Operating Activities  9,275,248,978  6,867,003,228 

CAsH FLOWs FROM InvEsTIng ACTIvITIEs

Cash Inflows

Receipt of Interest Earned  116,913,748  78,643,586 

Total Cash Inflows  116,913,748  78,643,586 

Adjustments  0  0 

Adjusted Cash Inflows  116,913,748  78,643,586 

Cash Outflows

Purchase/Construction of Investment Property  (65,782,920)  0 

Purchase/Construction of Property, Plant and Equipment  (3,266,533,158)  (1,381,681,177)

Purchase of Intangible Assets  (43,314,802)  (15,279,347)

Total Cash Outflows  (3,375,630,880)  (1,396,960,524)

Adjustments  0  0 

Adjusted Cash Outflows  (3,375,630,880)  (1,396,960,524)

net Cash used In Investing Activities  (3,258,717,132)  (1,318,316,938)

CAsH FLOWs FROM FInAnCIng ACTIvITIEs

Cash Outflows

Payment of Long-Term Liabilities  (879,666,323)  (1,325,191,080)

Payment of Cash Dividends  (1,182,619,845)  (1,898,319,018)

Total Cash Outflows  (2,062,286,168)  (3,223,510,098)

Adjustments  0  0 

Adjusted Cash Outflows  (2,062,286,168)  (3,223,510,098)

net Cash used In Financing Activities  (2,062,286,168)  (3,223,510,098)

InCREAsE/(dECREAsE) In CAsH And CAsH EQuIvALEnTs  3,954,245,678  2,325,176,192 

Effects of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash and Cash Equivalents  0  0 

CAsH And CAsH EQuIvALEnTs, JAnuARy 1, 2017  10,913,434,423  8,588,258,231 

CAsH And CAsH EQuIvALEnTs, dECEMbER 31, 2017  14,867,680,101  10,913,434,423 

For the year Ended december 31, 2017
(With corresponding figures for 2016)

(In Philippine Peso)
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